

Uptake and Accumulation of Pharmaceuticals and Hormones in Vegetables after Irrigation with Reuse Water

> Wei Zheng Kelsey N. Wiles Laurel Dodgen Illinois Sustainable Technology Center



RR-133 May 2016 www.istc.illinois.edu

Uptake and Accumulation of Pharmaceuticals and Hormones in Vegetables after Irrigation with Reuse Water

Wei Zheng Kelsey N. Wiles Laurel Dodgen

Illinois Sustainable Technology Center

May 2016

Submitted to the Illinois Sustainable Technology Center Prairie Research Institute University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign www.istc.illinois.edu

The report is available on-line at: http://www.istc.illinois.edu/info/library_docs/RR/RR133.pdf

> Printed by the Authority of the State of Illinois Bruce Rauner, Governor

This report is part of ISTC's Research Report Series. Mention of trade names or commercial products does not constitute endorsement or recommendation for use.

Acknowledgements

This research was funded by the Illinois Sustainable Technology Center (ISTC), a division of the Prairie Research Institute at the University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign (Grant No. SR1). We sincerely appreciate Nancy Holm, Elizabeth Meschewski, and Lauren Quinn for their assistance on this project. We would like to acknowledge the valuable contributions of our collaborators – Nathan A. Deppe and Clinton R. Shipley, for supporting the greenhouse experiment.

Table of Contents

Acknowledgements	iii
List of Tables	vii
List of Figures	viii
List of Abbreviations	x
Abstract	xi
1. Introduction	1
1.1. Background	1
1.1.1. Food Contaminants	1
1.1.2. Environmental and Human Health Effects of PPCPs and Steroid Hormones	1
1.1.3. Environmental Occurrence of PPCPs and Steroid Hormones	2
1.1.4. Uptake of PPCPs and Steroid Hormones by Plants	2
1.2. Project Objectives	3
2. Methodology	5
2.1. Chemicals and Materials	5
2.2. Hydroponic Experiments	5
2.2.1. Cultivation of Lettuce Plants	5
2.2.2. Cultivation of Tomato Plants	8
2.3. Sample Preparation and Extraction	8
2.3.1. Homogenization of Plant Samples	8
2.3.2. Selection of Extraction Solvents	8
2.3.3. Extraction and Clean Up of Plant Samples	10
2.4. Instrumental Analysis and Quantification	10
3. Results and Discussion	13
3.1. Optimization of Extraction Method	13
3.2. Method Validation	14
3.3. PPCP and Hormone Accumulation in Lettuce Plants	14
3.3.1. Study 1: Effect of Initial Concentrations of PPCPs and Hormones on their Plant Uptake	15
3.3.2. Study 2: Effect of Exposure Duration	26
3.4. PPCP and Hormone Accumulation in Tomato Plants	31
3.4.1. Concentrations of PPCPs and Hormones in Plant Tissues	31
3.4.2. Bioaccumulation Factors	35

3.4.3. Translocation Factors	37
3.5. Evaluating Human Exposure and Risk	39
4. Conclusions	41
4.1. Study 1: Evaluating Effects of PPCP and Hormone Concentrations	41
4.2. Study 2: Evaluating Effects of Exposure Duration	41
4.3. Study 3: Evaluating Effects of Depuration	41
4.4. Study 4: Accumulation of PPCPs and Hormones into Fruiting Plants	42
4.5. Estimation of Human Risk from Consuming Contaminated Plants	42
5. Recommendations	43
6. References	45

List of Tables

Table 1. Studied PPCPs and steroid hormones and their properties	. 6
Table 2. LC retention times and optimized MS/MS parameters of targeted PPCPs and hormones	.11
Table 3. Recoveries, Limits of Detection (LOD), and Limits of Quantification (LOQ) of the targeted PPCPs and hormones in spiked tomato fruit tissue (reported by dry-weight)	15
Table 4. Acceptable Daily Intake (ADI) for a 65 kg human and estimated daily exposure by ingestion of lettuce leaves and tomato fruits for targeted PPCPs and hormones	40

List of Figures

Figure 1. Pictures of greenhouse experiments
Figure 2. Tomatoes in the Turbogarden Aero System
Figure 3. Tomato plant samples
Figure 4. Effect of extraction solvents on the recoveries of PPCPs and hormones
Figure 5. Lettuce cultivars used in greenhouse experiments 15
Figure 6. Concentrations of PPCP and hormone contaminants in lettuce roots (dw) after three weeks of exposure to nutrient solution containing each compound at 0.5 μ g L ⁻¹ 17
Figure 7. Concentrations of PPCP and hormone contaminants in lettuce roots (dw) after three weeks of exposure to nutrient solution containing each compound at 50 μ g L ⁻¹ 17
Figure 8. Concentrations of PPCP and hormone contaminants in lettuce roots (dw) after three weeks of exposure to nutrient solution containing each compound at 500 μ g L ⁻¹
Figure 9. Concentrations of PPCP and hormone contaminants in lettuce leaves (dw) after three weeks of exposure to nutrient solution containing each compound at 0.5 μ g L ⁻¹
Figure 10. Concentrations of PPCP and hormone contaminants in lettuce leaves (dw) after three weeks of exposure to nutrient solution containing each compound at 50 μ g L ⁻¹
Figure 11. Concentrations of PPCP and hormone contaminants in lettuce leaves (dw) after three weeks of exposure to nutrient solution containing each compound at 500 μ g L ⁻¹ 20
Figure 12. Bioaccumulation factors for PPCPs and hormones into lettuce tissues after exposure to 0.5 μ g L ⁻¹ concentrations in nutrient solution
Figure 13. Bioaccumulation factors for PPCPs and hormones into lettuce tissues after exposure to 50 μ g L ⁻¹ concentrations in nutrient solution
Figure 14. Bioaccumulation factors for PPCPs and hormones into lettuce tissues after exposure to 500 μ g L ⁻¹ concentrations in nutrient solution
Figure 15. Translocation factors of PPCPs and hormones from roots to leaves of lettuce grown in solution containing emerging contaminants
Figure 16. Accumulation of PPCPs and hormones into GRB lettuce tissue after one, two, or three weeks of growth in nutrient solutions amended with 50 μ g L ⁻¹ of each compound 27
Figure 17. Translocation factors for PPCPs and hormones in GRB lettuce after exposure to 50 μ g L ⁻¹ of each compound for one, two, or three weeks
Figure 18. Accumulation of PPCPs and hormones into lettuce roots following exposure to $50 \ \mu g$ L^{-1} at the Beginning or End of the treatment period
Figure 19. Accumulation of PPCPs and hormones into lettuce leaves following exposure to 50 μ g L ⁻¹ at the Beginning or End of the treatment period
Figure 20. Translocation factors for PPCPs and hormones after exposure to 50 µg L ⁻¹ of each compound at either the Beginning or End of a three-week period
Figure 21. Accumulation of PPCPs into CC or TT tomato plants after exposure to 0.5 μg L ⁻¹ in nutrient solution

Figure 22. Accumulation of PPCPs into CC or TT tomato plants after exposure to 50 μg L ⁻¹ in nutrient solution
Figure 23. Accumulation of PPCPs into CC or TT tomato plants after exposure to 500 μg L ⁻¹ in nutrient solution
Figure 24. Accumulation of hormones into CC or TT tomato plants after exposure in nutrient solution
Figure 25. Bioaccumulation factors for PPCPs into tomato tissues after exposure to 0.5 μg L ⁻¹ concentrations in nutrient solution
Figure 26. Bioaccumulation factors for PPCPs into tomato tissues after exposure to 50 μg L ⁻¹ concentrations in nutrient solution
Figure 27. Bioaccumulation factors for PPCPs into tomato tissues after exposure to 500 μg L ⁻¹ concentrations in nutrient solution
Figure 28. Bioaccumulation factors for hormones into tomato tissues after exposure in nutrient solution
Figure 29. Translocation factors of PPCPs in tomatoes at three exposure concentrations
Figure 30. Translocation factors of hormones in tomato tissues at three exposure concentrations

List of Abbreviations

ASE	Accelerated solvent extraction
BAF	Bioaccumulation factor
CAF	Caffeine
CAFO	Concentrated animal feeding operation
CBZ	Carbamazepine
CDC	Centers for Disease Control
DI	Deionized
DW	Dry weight
E1	Estrone
EDC	Endocrine-disrupting hormone
EE2	Ethinyl estradiol
ESI	Electrospray ionization
EPA	Environmental Protection Agency
FDA	Food and Drug Administration
GEM	Gemfibrozil
HLB	Hydrophilic-Lipophilic balance
HPLC	High-performance liquid chromatography
IBU	Ibuprofen
LC-MS/MS	Liquid Chromatography-Tandem Mass Spectrometry
LOD	Limits of detection
Log Kow	Octanol-water coefficient
MRM	Multiple reaction monitoring
MTBE	Methyl tert-butyl ether
NAP	Naproxen
PPCP	Pharmaceutical and personal care products
p <i>K</i> _a	Acid dissociation constant
RPM	Revolutions per minute
SMO	Sulfamethoxazole
SPE	Solid-phase extraction
STP	Sewage treatment plant
TCS	Triclosan
TF	Translocation factor
UIUC	University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign
βΕ2	17β-Estradiol

Abstract

The widespread occurrence of pharmaceutical and personal care products (PPCPs) and steroid hormones in watersheds has been recognized as an emerging environmental issue. The potential uptake and accumulation of these emerging contaminants by food plants that are irrigated with contaminated water could be a food safety issue. In the present project, uptake, translocation, accumulation, and depuration of seven PPCPs and three steroid hormones in lettuce and tomato plants were investigated using hydroponic cultures with compound concentrations of 0.5, 50, or 500 μ g L⁻¹ and several exposure scenarios. An isotopic dilution method was developed for the analysis of trace levels of PPCPs and hormones in food plants using liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS), combined with ultrasonication-shaking extraction and solid phase extraction (SPE) cleanup. For lettuce plants, all targeted PPCPs and hormones were detected in the roots. The bioaccumulation factors (BAFs) of PPCPs and hormones in lettuce roots were more than 1, indicating these emerging contaminants can be bound to or taken up by the plant roots. In lettuce leaves, only caffeine (CAF), carbamazepine (CBZ), and sulfamethoxazole (SMO) showed very high BAF values compared to other targeted PPCPs and hormones, indicating that these three compounds can easily translocate from lettuce roots to leaves and thereby accumulate in plant leaves. For tomato plants, all PPCPs and hormones were detected in the roots. By contrast, the translocation factor (TF) values of all targeted compounds except CAF and CBZ were very small in tomato plants, implying their poor translocation from roots to above-ground plant parts following uptake. The BAFs of all targeted hormones in tomato fruits were much less than 1, suggesting that hormone contamination of tomato fruits after irrigation with contaminated water could be negligible. In addition, exposure study showed that accumulation of PPCPs and hormones may rapidly reach a steady level (< 1 week) in lettuce plants with exposure through contaminated water. Lettuce plants also appear to have a potential to metabolize accumulated PPCPs, with the exception of triclosan (TCS) in roots and sulfamethoxazole (SMO) in leaves. Hormones did not exhibit any tendency to depurate. Comparing protective estimates of human exposure in lettuce leaves and acceptable daily intake (ADI) values suggests that CBZ and ethinylestradiol (EE2) could exceed their ADIs under some circumstances.

1. Introduction

1.1. Background

1.1.1. Food Contaminants

Although food supply safety in the U.S. is overseen by governmental agencies, foodborne illness often arises from the consumption of contaminated foods (Scallan et al., 2011). There are three main types of food contaminants: (a) harmful microorganisms including a variety of pathogenic bacteria, viruses, and parasites; (b) toxic substances such as mycotoxins and marine biotoxins; and (c) chemical contaminants including heavy metals, pesticides, or emerging contaminants such as pharmaceutical and personal care products (PPCPs) and steroid hormones. These contaminants may be introduced into the food chain at any stage while the food travels from farm to table, including growing, handling, and storage. Over the past few decades in the U.S., most foodborne illnesses have been caused by harmful pathogens (Käferstein et al., 2000; Motarjemi et al., 1995). The remaining illnesses are attributable to various biotoxins and chemical contaminants (Käferstein et al., 2000; Motarjemi et al., 1995).

Unlike foodborne pathogens, chemical contamination is only occasionally recognized as the cause of acute foodborne illness, and typically occurs due to accidental introduction or intentional adulterations. For example, the industrial chemical melamine was illegally added to infant milk formula in order to increase apparent protein content, leading to the hospitalization of over 50,000 children in China in 2008 (Ingelfinger, 2008). PPCPs and steroid hormones are emerging contaminants in the environment, known to act through chronic exposure resulting in subtle environmental effects (Daughton and Ternes, 1999). However, the extent of these emerging contaminants in food is unknown and their effects on human health from chronic exposure are not understood. Additionally, the presence of chemical contaminants in food cannot be controlled by typical food safety measures, such as thermal processing or radiation, which are frequently used to destroy pathogens (Motarjemi et al., 1995). Moreover, PPCP and hormone contaminants are increasingly introduced to the food chain due to the adoption of innovative agricultural production practices (e.g., reuse of treated wastewater) and the application of new food preparation and storage techniques. Therefore, it is critical to identify these emerging contaminants, understand their potential risk, and mitigate their presence in the food supply.

1.1.2. Environmental and Human Health Effects of PPCPs and Steroid Hormones

While PPCPs are usually detected in the environment at nanograms per liter (ng L⁻¹) levels and lower – greatly below their therapeutic dose or typical use – their frequent use continually introduces them to the environment and causes them to act as pseudo-persistent chemicals in water and soil resources. This continual exposure of wildlife and plants may imperil environmental and human health (Cleuvers, 2004; Luckenbach and Epel, 2005; Pomati et al., 2006; Rochester, 2013). Most steroid hormones and some pharmaceuticals are classified as highly potent endocrine disrupting chemicals (EDCs), which may interfere with the normal function of the endocrine systems of humans and animals (Diamanti-Kandarakis et al., 2009). As an example, these EDCs, even at ng L⁻¹ levels, can adversely affect the reproduction of a variety of freshwater species (Filby et al., 2007; Jobling et al., 1998; Madsen et al., 2004; Sanchez et al., 2011; van der Linden et al., 2008). In addition to the direct effects of exposure, the presence of

antibiotic pharmaceuticals in the environment may be jeopardizing their continued therapeutic efficacy due to the emergence of bacteria resistant to antibiotics (Boxall et al., 2012; Daughton and Ternes, 1999; Kolodziej et al., 2004). For example, multiple antibiotic-resistance genes have been detected in bacteria in groundwater underlying large animal farms (Chee-Sanford et al., 2001; Koike et al., 2007). Bacteria with these antibiotic-resistance genes may transfer them to human pathogens, resulting in decreased efficacy of antibiotics during infections and diminished success in subsequent treatments (Alcaine et al., 2005), indirectly imperiling human health.

1.1.3. Environmental Occurrence of PPCPs and Steroid Hormones

Generally, PPCPs are widely utilized for therapeutic and personal use, while hormones may be endogenous or therapeutic. Their abundant use and natural production leads to the introduction of these compounds into sewage and other waste streams. PPCPs and their metabolites are incompletely removed in most conventional biological sewage treatment plants (STPs), leading to their ubiquity in effluents of STPs and their receiving waters (Baronti et al., 2000; Heberer, 2002a; Ternes et al., 1999, 2004). High concentrations of steroid hormones have also been frequently detected in manure and manure-containing wastewater derived from concentrated animal feeding operations (CAFOs), such as dairy and swine facilities (Hutchins et al., 2007; Zheng et al., 2008). Unlike sewage, CAFO wastes are not required to undergo additional treatment before land applications, indicating veterinary pharmaceuticals and animal hormones may remain in these wastes.

The discharge and land application of effluents and solids from STPs and CAFOs are major sources of PPCPs and steroid hormones to the environment (Burkholder et al., 2007; Kinney et al., 2006; Xia et al., 2005). A national survey of U.S. streams reported that organic contaminants, including PPCPs and hormones, were detected in 80% of samples (Kolpin et al., 2002), while more than 80 pharmaceuticals have been detected in water bodies worldwide (Heberer, 2002b).

1.1.4. Uptake of PPCPs and Steroid Hormones by Plants

Water supply shortages are a concern for U.S. agriculture due to increased food demands by an expanding population and more frequent droughts resulting from climate change. As water supplies dwindle, reclaimed water is becoming an increasingly important water source for crop irrigation. In the U.S., about 8% of treated wastewater is currently used for irrigation and other needs, and this reuse is growing by 15% each year (Miller, 2006). Agricultural irrigation using treated wastewater and land application of waste solids also provide nutrients and organic matter that improve plant growth; reduce fertilizer and soil amendment needs; and thereby enhance the long-term sustainability of agriculture. However, reuse of waste materials that contain PPCPs and hormones would introduce these emerging contaminants to soil, from which they may subsequently be taken up by food crops or contaminate crop surfaces (Boxall et al., 2006; Calderón-Preciado et al., 2011b; Dodgen et al., 2013; Shenker et al., 2011).

Studies indicate that PPCPs or hormones may be taken up, accumulated in, or induce phytotoxicity in beans and wetland macrophytes (Karnjanapiboonwong et al., 2011a; Matamoros et al., 2012; Wu et al., 2010). Also, some veterinary pharmaceuticals in animal manures have been shown to bioaccumulate in alfalfa, corn, lettuce, potato, and soybean (Boxall et al., 2006; Dolliver et al., 2006; Kumar et al., 2005). Overall, these emerging contaminants have the

potential to enter food supplies via the land application of reclaimed water and waste solids. The extent of their uptake, internal transfer, and accumulation in plants is likely to be associated with the compound properties, plant species and cultivar, growth substrates, compound concentrations, and plant development stages. While recent studies have begun to illuminate the extent of this process, it is still very unclear how much potential there is for plant uptake of emerging contaminants to impact human health. Moreover, the potential contamination of food crops with PPCPs and hormones is raising public concern when reclaimed water is used for irrigation. Thus, public perception and concerns need to be addressed before the widespread use of reclaimed water in agricultural fields is politically supported.

1.2. Project Objectives

The goal of this project was to investigate the uptake and accumulation potential of PPCPs and steroid hormones in food plants, determine if these emerging contaminants would be a critical food safety threat, and provide knowledge to develop the safe use of wastewater in agriculture. To achieve the goal, the following objectives were set:

- 1) Develop and optimize analytical methods for targeted PPCPs and steroid hormones in plant samples.
- 2) Conduct greenhouse experiments to elucidate the processes and mechanisms of uptake, translocation, accumulation, and depuration of PPCPs and steroid hormones in lettuce and tomato plants.
- 3) Evaluate potential human exposure from consumption of food plants contaminated with emerging contaminants.

2. Methodology

2.1. Chemicals and Materials

Seven PPCPs and three steroid hormones were selected for this study on the basis of their frequent occurrence in aquatic environments (Choi et al., 2008; Karnjanapiboonwong et al., 2011b) and their wide range of physicochemical properties (e.g., pK_a and log K_{ow}) (Table 1). PPCP standards for caffeine (CAF), carbamazepine (CBZ), gemfibrozil (GEM), ibuprofen (IBU), naproxen (NAP), triclosan (TCS), and sulfamethoxazole (SMO), internal standard florfenicol, and hormone standards 17β-estradiol (β E2), estrone (E1), and 17α-ethinylestradiol (EE2) were obtained from Restek (Bellefonte, PA, USA). Isotope standards including ¹³C₃-caffeine, D₁₀-carbamazepine, D₆-gemfibrozil, ¹³C₃-ibuprofen, ¹³C₄-naproxen, ¹³C₁₂-triclosan, ¹³C₆-sulfamethoxazole, and ¹³C₆-estrone were purchased from Cambridge Isotope (Andover, MA, USA). Solvents used in the study, including methanol, acetone, and acetonitrile, were purchased from Fisher Scientific (Fair Lawn, NJ, USA). Deionized (DI) water (>17.6 M\Omega-cm) was supplied by a Labconco Water Pro Plus system (Kansas City, MO, USA). An individual stock solution of each compound was prepared in methanol and stored in an amber glass vial at -20°C.

Lettuce (*Lactuca sativa*, two cultivars: 'Green Rex Butterhead' and 'Red Lollo') and tomato (*Solanum lycopersicum*, two cultivars: 'Cherry Cascade' and 'Tiny Tim') seeds were obtained from a local nursery. Lettuce and tomato were selected for this study because they are representative of edible leaf and fruit plants, respectively. Two commercial hydroponic systems, AeroFlo2 Model 20 and Turbogarden Aero, were purchased from General Hydroponics (Sebastopol, CA) and Botanicare (Chandler, AZ), respectively.

2.2. Hydroponic Experiments

2.2.1. Cultivation of Lettuce Plants

All lettuce plant uptake experiments were performed in a temperature-controlled greenhouse operated by the Plant Care Facility at the University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign (UIUC), in collaboration with the greenhouse managers. Three lettuce studies were conducted in this project. The lettuce seeds ('Green Rex Butterhead' and 'Red Lollo') were germinated in Fafard superfine-germination mix (Agawam, MA) for two weeks (Figure 1, top-left panel). Ten seedlings of uniform size were transferred into the AeroFlo2 Model 20 hydroponic tanks (Figure 1, bottom-left panel), where they were maintained in a continuously aerated nutrient solution under a 16/8-h day/night photoperiod at $25 \pm 1^{\circ}$ C and $20 \pm 1^{\circ}$ C day/night temperature. Prior to transfer, the seedlings were thoroughly washed to remove any substrate particles attached to the plants. All lettuce plants were acclimated in nutrient solutions for one week prior to beginning experiments.

The first lettuce study aimed to determine the effect of initial PPCP and hormone concentrations on their uptake, translocation and accumulation in plants. Initial concentrations of each of the selected 7 PPCPs and 3 hormones in the nutrient solutions were 0.5, 50, or 500 μ g L⁻¹, representing concentrations typical of wastewater at various levels of treatment (Anderson et al., 2010; Choi et al., 2008; Heberer, 2002a; Karnjanapiboonwong et al., 2011*b*). The stock of mixed chemicals was made in methanol and then added to the nutrient solution such that the methanol

was less than 0.1% of the total solution. Plants were also grown concurrently in $0 \ \mu g \ L^{-1}$ solutions as experimental controls. The chemical-spiked nutrient solutions were replaced twice per week to replenish nutrient levels and reduce microbial presence. After 3 weeks of treatment (Figure 1, bottom-right panel), whole lettuce plants were harvested for analysis.

The second study examined the effect of exposure time on uptake and accumulation of targeted PPCPs and hormones in lettuce plants. For this experiment, 20 lettuce plants ('Green Rex Butterhead') were cultivated for 3 weeks in nutrient solutions amended at 50 μ g L⁻¹ of each targeted compound. At the end of week 1, 2, and 3, lettuce plants were harvested for analysis of PPCPs and steroid hormones.

Compound [*]	Abbreviation	Category	Structure	MW (g/mol)	pK _a	Log K _{ow}
Caffeine	CAF	Stimulant		194.19	14.0	-0.07
Carbamazepine	CBZ	Anticonvulsant, mood stabilizer		236.27	13.9	2.45
Gemfibrozil	GEM	Lipid-lowering drug	ОСТОН	250.33	4.5	4.77
Ibuprofen	IBU	Anti-inflammatory drug (NSAID), pain reliever	но-	206.28	4.91	3.97
Naproxen	NAP	Anti-inflammatory drug (NSAID), pain reliever	OH OH	230.26	4.15	3.18
Sulfamethoxazole	SMO	Antibacterial	$H_2N \xrightarrow{\bigcirc} H_2 \xrightarrow{\bigcirc} H_2 \xrightarrow{\bigcirc} H_1 \xrightarrow{\longrightarrow} $	253.28	1.6, 5.7	0.89
Triclosan (Irgasan)	TCS	Antibacterial, antifungal		289.54	7.9	4.76
Estrone	E1	Estrogenic hormones	но-	270.37	N/A	3.13
β-Estradiol	βE2	Sex hormone	но-Он	272.38	N/A	4.01
Ethinylestradiol	EE2	Oral contraceptive pill	HO	[±] 296.4	N/A	3.67

Table 1. Studied PPCPs and steroid hormones and their properties.

* All values from Hazardous Substances Data Bank (<u>http://toxnet.nlm.nih.gov</u>).



Figure 1. Pictures of greenhouse experiments. Top-left: Seedlings germinated in soil. Top-right: View of Aeroflo2 System including reservoir tank and gutter system. Bottom-left: Newly transplanted lettuce plants in Aeroflo2 System. Bottom-right: Fully grown lettuce plants.

For the third lettuce study, two batches of lettuce plants were cultivated in chemical-spiked nutrient solutions at different points in their life cycles to study the impact of depuration on accumulation of PPCP and hormone contaminants. Each batch was composed of 10 replicates of both two lettuce cultivars, and all nutrient solutions were changed twice per week. In the first batch, the lettuce plants were cultivated in solutions spiked with 50 μ g L⁻¹ of each targeted compound for 1.5 weeks and then cultivated in unspiked solution for a further 1.5 weeks. In the second batch, exposure was the opposite pattern: lettuce plants were cultivated in unspiked solution for the first 1.5 weeks followed by 1.5 weeks of cultivation in spiked solutions (50 μ g L⁻¹ of each compound). All lettuce plants were then harvested for sample preparation. For the second and third studies, chemicals were investigated at 50 μ g L⁻¹, in which plant uptake was still expected to be measurable, so as to elucidate mechanistic processes of uptake.

2.2.2. Cultivation of Tomato Plants

Tomato experiments were also performed in a greenhouse operated by the Plant Care Facility at UIUC, using the same photoperiods and temperatures as described in section 2.2.1. As with the first lettuce study, the effect of initial PPCP and hormone concentrations on their uptake, translocation, and accumulation in tomato plants were investigated. Initial spiking concentrations for each targeted compound were 0.5, 50, or 500 μ g L⁻¹, with plants grown concurrently in 0 μ g L⁻¹ solutions as experimental controls.

For these experiments, two tomato cultivars ('Cherry Cascade' and 'Tiny Tim') were germinated from seeds placed in soil. After 3 weeks, 6 seedlings of each cultivar were rinsed with DI water to remove soil particles and transferred to continuously aerated nutrient solution in the Turbogarden Aero System (Figure 2, top-left panel). The plants were acclimated in the nutrient solutions for 4 weeks until the first tomato fruit appeared. At this point, tomato plants were thinned to 3 plants of each cultivar to allow room for growth (Figure 2, top-right panel), and the nutrient solution was then amended with each of the targeted compounds. The chemically-spiked nutrient solutions for this study were changed once per week. After 5 weeks of cultivation in spiked solution (Figure 2, bottom panel), whole tomato plants were harvested for analysis.

2.3. Sample Preparation and Extraction

2.3.1. Homogenization of Plant Samples

After harvesting, all plants were rinsed under a stream of DI water for 5 minutes, left to drain, and then blotted dry with paper towels. Lettuce plants were separated into roots and leaves, while tomato plants were separated into roots, stems, leaves, and fruits (Figure 3, left panel). Each plant sample was weighed to determine wet-weight. Leaves and fruits were homogenized using a kitchen food processor. Roots and stems were cut into small pieces, freeze-dried (Labconco, Kansas City, MO), and then ground to powder using a mill (Glen Mills, Maywood, NJ) (Figure 3, right panel). After measuring their moisture content, all plant components were stored at -20°C until extraction.

2.3.2. Selection of Extraction Solvents

In preliminary tests, three dual-solvent (solvent A/solvent B) systems were evaluated to optimize the plant extraction method: (i) methyl tert-butyl ether (MTBE)/acetonitrile; (ii) acetonitrile/phosphate buffer; and (iii) acetonitrile/water. Briefly, uncontaminated plant samples were weighed into centrifuge tubes and spiked with 100 ng each of PPCP or hormone. After premixing, 20 mL of extraction solvent A was added to the test sample for extraction. The sample was vortexed for 1 min, sonicated for 30 min, shaken for 30 min, and then centrifuged at 10,000 rpm for 15 min. The supernatant was poured out into a turbovap tube. The solid phase was further extracted by adding 15 mL of solvent B, followed by vortexing, sonicating, shaking, and centrifuging. The aqueous layer was poured out into the same turbovap tube. The solid sample was extracted one more time using 20 mL of solvent A according to the above extraction



Figure 2. Tomatoes in the Turbogarden Aero System. Top-left: Newly transplanted tomato plants. Top-right: Tomato plants after a few weeks of growth in the system. Bottom: Tomato plants grown to harvest size.



Figure 3. Tomato plant samples. Left: Tomato plants divided into roots, stems, leaves, and fruit. Right: Freeze-dried and ground stem samples.

procedure. Extracts from each sample were combined and then mixed thoroughly. The extracts were concentrated to 1.0 mL using a closed cell concentrator (Turbo Vap[@]500, Hopkinton, MA) at 40°C, followed by addition of ultrapure water (49 mL at pH 2) to each sample. Based on the results from these preliminary evaluations, the best solvent system was chosen to extract all plant samples collected from the cultivation experiments.

2.3.3. Extraction and Clean Up of Plant Samples

PPCPs and hormones in plant samples were extracted and cleaned up by solid phase extraction (SPE) cartridges based on EPA Method 1694 (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2007; Li et al., 2013) with some modification. To reduce interference from the plant matrix on LC-MS/MS analysis, an isotope dilution method was utilized to analyze all harvested plant samples. In brief, each plant sample was weighed into centrifuge tubes and spiked with 100 μ L of 1 mg L⁻¹ surrogate solution that contained a stable-labeled isotope standard for each targeted analyte. For fruits and leaves that were not freeze-dried, 10 g of sample was extracted due to the high water content (>90%) of the fruits and leaves. For roots and stems that were freeze-dried, 1.0 g of sample was extracted. All samples were extracted according to the ultrasonication-shaking procedures described in Section 2.3.2.

Extracts were cleaned up using solid phase extraction (SPE) (Oasis HLB, 500 mg, 6cc). Before loading the sample extracts, the SPE cartridges were preconditioned with 10 mL methanol, 10 mL water, and 10 mL acidified water (pH 2) in series by gravity. Sample extracts were passed through the SPE cartridges, using a vacuum to control the flow rate at 3 to 5 mL min⁻¹. For PPCP extraction, the cartridges were washed with 10 mL water after loading the sample and dried under vacuum for about 30 min. Each sample was eluted with 10 mL methanol and 6 mL acetone:methanol (1:1) by gravity. The combined sample extracts were blown down to dryness under gentle nitrogen gas and reconstituted with 1.0 mL acetonitrile:water (5:95) and dried under vacuum for about 30 min after loading the samples. The samples were then eluted with 6 mL of ethyl acetate:methanol (9:1). The extracts were blown down to dryness under gentle nitrogen gas and reconstituted with 1.0 mL acetonitrile:water (1:1). The concentrations of PPCPs or hormones in extracts were quantified by LC-MS/MS method described below. Analysis of each plant sample was carried out in triplicate.

2.4. Instrumental Analysis and Quantification

Concentrations of PPCPs were determined by LC-MS/MS (Waters, Quattro Macro, QA1140, Milford, MA). All targeted PPCPs were separated on a Symmetry C18 column (3.5 μ m particle size, 2.1 × 150mm, Waters) by HPLC (2695 module, Waters). A gradient separation was achieved using two mobile phases: solvent A, 0.1% ammonium acetate and 0.1% acetic acid in water; and solvent B, 1:1 methanol:acetonitrile. The gradient began with 90% solvent A and 10% solvent B and was maintained for 2 min. The gradient was then ramped up to 5% solvent A and 95% solvent B linearly in 13 min and maintained for 8 min. The gradient changed back to 90% solvent A and 10% solvent B in 0.5 min and was re-equilibrated for 5.5 min. Sample extracts were spiked with 100 ng internal standard florfenicol, and 30 μ L of each sample was injected.

Hormones were analyzed by the same LC-MS/MS system. Two mobile phases were applied for separation: solvent C, water with 10 mM ammonium hydroxide; and solvent D,

acetonitrile with 10 mM ammonium hydroxide. The gradient began with 90% solvent C and 10% solvent D and was maintained for 2 min. The gradient was then ramped up to 5% solvent C and 95% solvent D linearly in 13 min and maintained for 8 min. The gradient changed back to 90% solvent C and 10% solvent D in 0.5 min and was re-equilibrated for 5.5 min. Sample extracts were spiked with 100 ng internal standard florfenicol, and 30 μ L of each sample was injected.

An LC system was coupled with a Quattro Macro mass spectrometer (QA1140, Waters, Milford, MA) equipped with an electrospray ionization (ESI) source. For PPCP analysis, the mass spectrometer was operated in positive and negative ESI mode simultaneously with optimized instrument conditions: desolvation gas flow rate 650 L min⁻¹; capillary voltage 3.0 kV for positive and 3.5 kV for negative mode. For hormone analysis, negative ESI mode was applied with the same desolvation gas flow and capillary voltage. Quantitative analysis was performed in the multiple reaction monitoring (MRM) mode and optimized parameters including collision energy and cone voltage for each targeted analyte are listed in Table 2. Confirmation of the analytes in plant sample extracts was based on the MRM ion transitions as well as comparing the retention time of each peak to its corresponding isotopic standard.

Compound	RT	Corresponding	ESI	MRM ions	Isotope	Cone	Collision
Compound	(min)	Isotope	model		MRM ions	(V)	(V)
Caffeine	9.9	¹³ C ₃ -Caffeine	+	195.2>137.9	198.2>140.0	35	20
Carbamazepine	16.3	D ₁₀ -Carbamazepine	+	237.4>194.2	247.4>204.2	35	16
Gemfibrozil	21.0	D ₆ -Gemfibrozil	_	249.0>121.0	255.0>121.0	26	12
Ibuprofen	19.9	¹³ C ₃ -Ibuprofen	_	205.1>161.1	208.2>163.1	20	10
Naproxen	17.7	¹³ C ₄ -Naproxen	_	229.2>170.1	233.2>170.1	20	15
Sulfamethoxazole	13.1	¹³ C ₆ -Sulfamethoxazole	+	254.0>156.0	260.2>162.0	35	16
Triclosan	21.1	¹³ C ₁₂ -Triclosan	_	286.8>235.0	298.8>235.0	22	10
Estrone	16.8	¹³ C ₆ -Estrone	_	269.3>145.0	275.2>145.0	50	40
17β-Estradiol	15.8	¹³ C ₆ -Estrone	_	271.3>145.0	275.2>145.0	50	40
17α-Ethinylestradiol	16.1	¹³ C ₆ -Estrone	_	295.3>145.0	275.2>145.0	50	40

Table 2. LC retention times and optimized MS/MS parameters of targeted PPCPs and hormones.

3. Results and Discussion

3.1. Optimization of Extraction Method

A series of preliminary experiments were performed to investigate the effects of extraction conditions on the recoveries of PPCPs and hormones from plant samples. It has been reported that ultrasonic extraction showed better recoveries for most targeted PPCPs than accelerated solvent extraction (ASE) (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2007; Wu et al., 2012). Additionally, it has also been shown that sonication extraction using acetonitrile or methyl tert-butyl ether (MTBE) resulted in a higher extraction efficiency compared to other solvents such as methanol, acetone, and ethyl acetate (Wu et al., 2012). Method development for extraction of PPCPs from solids was based on an ultrasonic extraction with acetonitrile, according to the recommendations of EPA Method 1694 (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2007).

To further improve extraction efficiency of PPCPs and hormones from plant samples, different solvent-mixture systems were examined under a two-step extraction procedure involving ultrasonication and shaking. The absolute recoveries of all of the targeted analytes in the uncontaminated tomato fruits under three solvent extraction systems are displayed in Figure 4. The absolute recovery for each analyte was calculated as the amount detected over that spiked. The recoveries ranged from 42% to 115% for acetonitrile/MTBE, 52% to 121% for acetonitrile/phosphate buffer solution, and 9% to 127% for acetonitrile/water, respectively. Using acetonitrile/phosphate buffer solution as the extraction solvent led to better recoveries for most targeted compounds (Table 3). Compared to the acetonitrile/MTBE solvent system used in a previous study for PPCP extraction (Wu et al., 2012), the acetonitrile/phosphate buffer system



Figure 4. Effect of extraction solvents on the recoveries of PPCPs and hormones: CAF–caffeine, CBZ– carbamazepine, NAP–naproxen, IBU–ibuprofen, GEM–gemfibrozil, TCS–triclosan, SMO–sulfamethoxazole, E1– estrone, β E2–17 β -estradiol, and EE2-17 α -ethinylestradiol.

appeared to have less variation in recovery for most targeted compounds in this study (Figure 4). Therefore, the acetonitrile/phosphate buffer solution extraction was selected for use in this study.

3.2. Method Validation

The entire procedure used to detect and quantify the residues of PPCPs and steroid hormones in plant samples included isotope standard addition, ultrasonication-shaking extraction, SPE cartridge cleanup, and quantification by LC-MS/MS. The performance of the entire developed method was evaluated by considering response linearity, recoveries, and limits of detection (LODs) of targeted PPCPs and hormones in plant samples. For analyte quantification, six point calibration curves (1-500 μ g L⁻¹) were performed for each targeted compound. For each PPCP, a Relative Response was calculated with the standards using the ratios of the integrated peak areas for each compound and its corresponding isotope surrogate (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2007). For the hormones, Relative Response was calculated for each compound compared to the ¹³C₆-estrone surrogate, due to the structural similarity between the targeted hormones. Good linearity was achieved for standard calibration of all compounds, with squared Pearson coefficients (r^2) > 0.99.

The absolute recovery and corrected recovery for each analyte in this method are shown in Table 3. Corrected recoveries were calculated for targeted analytes based on the recovery of spiked isotope surrogates, which easily controlled the variability in absolute recoveries (Wu et al., 2012). Due to the low, environmentally-relevant concentrations studied in complex matrices, variability is introduced through several avenues, including matrix effects on ionization, analyte loss during sample preparation, and variations in the instrumental response. After correction, recoveries of targeted PPCPs and hormones spiked plant samples were 94 to 107% (Table 3), indicating that the isotopic dilution method was able to provide good recovery during the simultaneous analysis of a broad range of compounds in a complex matrix.

Limits of detection (LODs) for this method were calculated according to an established method (Vanderford and Snyder, 2006). Limits of quantification (LOQs) were used as reporting limits in this study and are calculated as three times the corresponding LODs. In this method, LODs were in the range of 0.04 to 2.60 μ g kg⁻¹ dry-weight plant tissue (dw) (Table 3), which were similar to a previous study (Wu et al., 2012). These relatively low LODs make this method appropriate for the detection of trace residues of targeted PPCPs and hormones, especially in studies of vegetables impacted by reclaimed or otherwise contaminated waters.

3.3. PPCP and Hormone Accumulation in Lettuce Plants

Greenhouse studies were performed to quantify the uptake of PPCPs and steroid hormones from nutrient solutions into edible plants. Experiments addressed four research objectives: (1) effect of initial PPCP and hormone concentrations in hydroponic solutions on their accumulation in lettuce plants; (2) effect of exposure duration; (3) effect of depuration period; and (4) effect of lettuce plant cultivars. Due to the short cultivation period before lettuce reaches commercial size (~42 d), lettuce makes an ideal model for PPCP and hormone accumulation into leaf vegetables that are typically eaten raw. Two cultivars of lettuce, 'Green Rex Butterhead' (GRB) and 'Red Lollo' (RL), were utilized to assess Objective 1, 3, and 4 (Figure 5), while experiments for Objective 2 only used GRB.

Commenced	Absolute	Corrected	LOD	LOQ
Compound	Recovery (%)	Recovery (%)	(µg kg ⁻¹)	(µg kg ⁻¹)
Caffeine	79 ± 6	102 ± 6	1.4	4.2
Carbamazepine	103 ± 7	106 ± 4	0.4	1.2
Naproxen	121 ± 18	102 ± 6	1.0	3.0
Ibuprofen	61 ± 2	99 ± 8	0.6	1.8
Gemfibrozil	88 ± 17	99 ± 9	0.04	0.12
Triclosan	52 ± 8	93 ± 8	0.8	2.4
Sulfamethoxazole	70 ± 21	102 ± 3	0.08	0.24
Estrone	84 ± 9	98 ± 3	1.5	4.5
17β-Estradiol	91 ± 11	94 ± 7	1.9	5.7
17α-Ethinylestradiol	70 ± 9	101 ± 10	2.6	7.8

Table 3. Recoveries, Limits of Detection (LOD), and Limits of Quantification (LOQ) of the targeted PPCPs and hormones in spiked tomato fruit tissue (reported by dry-weight).



Figure 5. Lettuce cultivars used in greenhouse experiments. Left: Green Rex Butterhead. Right: Red Lollo.

3.3.1. Study 1: Effect of Initial Concentrations of PPCPs and Hormones on their Plant Uptake

3.3.1.1. Root Uptake

Lettuce cultivars were exposed for 3 weeks to nutrient solution containing various concentrations of PPCPs and hormones. After exposure to 0.5 μ g L⁻¹ of each compound, accumulated targeted contaminants in lettuce roots ranged from 8 μ g kg⁻¹ (dw) (for β E2 in GRB) to 960 μ g kg⁻¹ (dw) (for SMO in RL) (Figure 6). CAF, NAP, TCS, and SMO were all detected at concentrations > 100 μ g kg⁻¹ (dw), suggesting these compounds have high potential to

accumulate in plant roots exposed to low levels of PPCPs and hormones. In contrast, hormones were detected at the lowest concentrations in lettuce roots, at levels $< 30 \ \mu g \ kg^{-1}$ (dw).

In experiments with nutrient solution amended with 50 μ g L⁻¹ of each targeted compound, root concentrations were between 0.16 to 29 mg kg⁻¹ (dw) (Figure 7). SMO was most highly accumulated, with a concentration > 15 mg kg⁻¹ (dw) in both cultivars, while IBU and CAF were least accumulated, with concentrations < 1 mg kg⁻¹ (dw).

For experiments performed at the highest initial spiking concentration (500 μ g^{L-1}), the concentrations of PPCPs and hormones in roots ranged between 0.7 to140 mg kg⁻¹ (Figure 8). SMO again was the most highly detected compound (> 130 mg kg⁻¹ (dw) in each cultivar), which supports previous studies showing SMO has high potential for accumulation in plants (Herklotz et al., 2010). NAP was the second most accumulated contaminant, with concentrations > 100 mg kg⁻¹, while CAF was the least accumulated, with concentrations of only 0.78 to 0.97 mg kg⁻¹ in the roots of both lettuce cultivars.

Across the three concentrations of PPCPs and hormones in nutrient solutions, root uptake of each compound increased as spiking concentrations increased. However, these relationships varied among the targeted compounds. For CBZ and SMO, the plant uptakes increased by the same magnitude as the solution concentrations. For example, the concentrations of CBZ in GRB roots were 0.0244, 2.07, and 24.7 mg kg⁻¹ (dw) after exposure to 0.5, 50, and 500 μ g L⁻¹ solutions, respectively (Figure 6-8). Other compounds had also strong relationships between root accumulation and exposure concentrations, though they were not a proportional increase. For instance, NAP and GEM concentrations in plant roots increased only by one order of magnitude between the 0.5 and 50 μ g L⁻¹ exposure concentrations, but by two orders of magnitude between 50 and 500 μ g L⁻¹ exposure concentrations. The most complex behavior was observed for CAF, which had relatively high root uptake (0.173 to 0.331 mg kg⁻¹) after exposure to 0.5 μ g L⁻¹, but only marginally accumulated greater amounts at 50 and 500 μ gL⁻¹ (0.643 to 0.732 mg kg⁻¹ and 0.775 to 0.972 mg kg⁻¹, respectively), suggesting a rapid root uptake but also readily translocation from roots into leaves (discussed in Sections 3.3.1.2 and 3.3.3.).

After exposure at each of the solution concentrations (0.5, 50, and 500 μ g L⁻¹), all targeted PPCPs and hormones were detected in lettuce roots of both cultivars. Experimental controls showed no detectable PPCP and hormone contaminants in lettuce roots or leaves grown in nutrient solutions without PPCP and hormone additions. Small differences were identified in the root accumulation between different lettuce cultivars, but it is unknown whether other leafy vegetables would accumulate PPCPs and hormones into roots to the same extent. Overall, these results support that plants roots can adsorb or take up PPCP and hormone contaminants from irrigation water with environmentally relevant levels of these compounds. Accumulation varies among compounds and some compounds, especially SMO, may pose a high risk of accumulating into plant roots from contaminated irrigation water.



Figure 6. Concentrations of PPCP and hormone contaminants in lettuce roots (dw) after three weeks of exposure to nutrient solution containing each compound at 0.5 μg L⁻¹.



Figure 7. Concentrations of PPCP and hormone contaminants in lettuce roots (dw) after three weeks of exposure to nutrient solution containing each compound at 50 µg L⁻¹.



Figure 8. Concentrations of PPCP and hormone contaminants in lettuce roots (dw) after three weeks of exposure to nutrient solution containing each compound at 500 µg L⁻¹.

3.3.1.2. Leaf Accumulation

To examine concentration effects, lettuce plants were cultivated for a total of three weeks in nutrient solutions spiked with targeted PPCPs and hormones at 0.5, 50, or 500 μ g L⁻¹. Most PPCPs were detected in lettuce leaves of GRB and RL after exposure at 0.5 μ g L⁻¹ (Figure 9), with concentrations ranging from 3.04 μ g kg⁻¹ (dw) for NAP in GRB to 132.6 μ g kg⁻¹ (dw) for SMO in RL. SMO, CAF, and CBZ were the most accumulated compounds. In contrast, TCS, E1, β E2, and EE2 were not detected in lettuce leaves for this treatment concentration (Figure 9).

After exposure to 50 μ g L⁻¹ of each targeted compound (Figure 10), lettuce leaves had accumulated between 9.0 μ g kg⁻¹ (dw) for EE2 in GRB up to 7.1 mg kg⁻¹ (dw) for CBZ in RL. At this exposure level, CBZ was accumulated the most and had concentrations > 5 mg kg⁻¹ (dw) in lettuce leaves of both cultivars. Many compounds showed only slightly raised levels compared to their accumulation from solution with 0.5 μ g L⁻¹ amendment, while TCS and β E2 were still not detectable in lettuce leaves (Figure 10).

After lettuce exposure to solution with 500 μ g L⁻¹ of each compound, CBZ had the highest concentration in leaves of both cultivars, with levels 51.8 to 77.9 mg kg⁻¹ (dw) (Figure 11). Even at this elevated solution concentration, accumulation of many PPCPs and hormones did not significantly increase, suggesting these compounds are poorly translocated to leaves or readily metabolized within leaves. Comparing GRB and RL cultivars, RL plants consistently had higher leaf accumulation of PPCP and hormone contaminants than GRB across the range of exposure concentrations. This occurrence deserves further investigation to determine the cause of this trend, which may be related to growth behavior, transpiration needs, or translocation mechanisms.



Figure 9. Concentrations of PPCP and hormone contaminants in lettuce leaves (dw) after three weeks of exposure to nutrient solution containing each compound at 0.5 μg L⁻¹.



Figure 10. Concentrations of PPCP and hormone contaminants in lettuce leaves (dw) after three weeks of exposure to nutrient solution containing each compound at 50 µg L⁻¹.



Figure 11. Concentrations of PPCP and hormone contaminants in lettuce leaves (dw) after three weeks of exposure to nutrient solution containing each compound at 500 µg L⁻¹.

Relationships between exposure concentration and accumulation in leaves were also assessed. For leaf tissue, only CBZ concentrations increased at the same proportion as solution concentrations increased. For example, in GRB CBZ leaf concentrations were 0.0496 mg kg⁻¹, 5.23 mg kg⁻¹, and 51.8 mg kg⁻¹ when exposed to 0.5 μ g kg⁻¹, 50 μ g kg⁻¹, and 500 μ g kg⁻¹, respectively. In contrast, SMO, CAF, and GEM exhibited increased accumulation with increased solution concentration, but it was not proportional. All other compounds showed little relationship between solution concentrations and leaf accumulation, suggesting that translocation of PPCPs and hormones from root tissue to leaf is likely controlled by plant tissue and metabolism processes.

Unlike lettuce roots, where all targeted PPCPs and hormones were detected and sometimes at high levels, only some PPCPs and hormones were detected in lettuce leaves. Previous studies have shown that many factors impact the uptake and translocation of organic compounds within plants, including chemical hydrophobicity and ionization (Dodgen et al., 2015; Herklotz et al., 2010; Trapp, 2004). For example, significantly greater accumulation in leaves was observed for neutral compounds than anionic compounds in collard plants (Dodgen et al., 2013), because molecular ionization of organic compounds may reduce their ability to permeate cell membranes and thereby result in a reduced internal transfer potential (Trapp, 2004). Because CAF and CBZ are not ionized at neutral pH, while the other studied PPCPs are partly ionized (Table 1), it is reasonable to expect these compounds would have the highest leaf accumulation (Figure 9-11).

Accumulation of PPCP and hormone contaminants into lettuce leaves is an issue of food security as humans may be exposed to these compounds through dietary consumption of these edible parts. These results suggest that only some compounds are likely to accumulate into lettuce leaves due to their chemical properties, and that risk assessments of dietary exposure should include CAF and CBZ for leaves and SMO for roots. Considering the relatively high

accumulation of SMO in both root and leaf tissues, it might be investigated as a potential marker for emerging contaminant accumulation into leafy food plants.

3.3.1.3. Bioaccumulation Factors

Bioaccumulation Factors (BAFs) are defined as the ratio of detected concentrations (dw) of targeted compounds in the plant tissues to their initial concentrations in the nutrient solutions. In this study, BAF values represent accumulation capacities of PPCPs and hormones in lettuce roots or leaves after three weeks of exposure to contaminating nutrient solutions.

$$BAF = \frac{\text{Concentration of PPCP or hormone in plant part (\mu g kg^{-1}, dw)}}{\text{Concentration of PPCP or hormone in initial solution (\mu g L^{-1}, dw)}}$$
(1)

BAFs after exposure to $0.5 \ \mu g \ L^{-1}$ of each targeted compound in solutions are shown in Figure 12. At this exposure level, root BAFs ranged from 16.3-1,920, but most were under 400. The extreme high BAF value was for SMO in RL, while the lowest values were contributed by hormones. For leaf tissue, BAFs ranged from 0 to 265, with hormones and TCS showing no leaf accumulation and SMO again being most accumulated. SMO had high BAFs in both leaf and root tissues because it is predominantly neutral at neutral pH and has low hydrophobicity (Table 1), which facilitates its transfer through plant cell membranes (Dodgen et al., 2015; Trapp and Legind, 2011). These high BAFs suggest that SMO should be prioritized for further research as a marker for emerging contaminant accumulation into food crops and evaluation of human risks.

After exposure to 50 μ g L⁻¹, BAF values ranged from 3.2 to 580 in roots and 0 to 105 in leaves (Figure 13). Compared to BAFs for 0.5 μ g L⁻¹ exposure, these BAFs were similar (for CBZ, SMO, E1, β E2, and EE2) or much lower (for other PPCPs). For instance, the BAF value of CAF in GRB was 662 in the 0.5 μ g L⁻¹ exposure and decreased to 12.9 in the 50 μ g L⁻¹ exposure.

BAF values after exposure to 500 μ g L⁻¹ of PPCPs and hormones ranged from 1.6 to 280 in roots and 0 to 156 in leaves (Figure 14), and overall were similar to BAFs for 50 μ g L⁻¹ exposures (Figure 13). Except for CAF and CBZ, the BAF values in lettuce roots of all targeted compounds for two of the exposure concentrations (50 and 500 μ g kg⁻¹) were much higher than those in leaves (Figure 13 and 14).

All BAF values of PPCPs and hormones in lettuce roots were more than 1 (Figure 12-14), suggesting that while many of these compounds are present at low levels in reuse water, they have potential to accumulate in plant roots to much higher levels. Potentially high root accumulation should be taken into account for any safety thresholds developed for emerging contaminants in plants. Also, further study of edible root plants, such as carrots or sweet potatoes, is necessary to assess whether these plants accumulate PPCPs and hormones to the same extent.

In lettuce leaves, BAF values were generally low for all targeted compounds except three PPCPs: CBZ, SMO, and CAF. This indicates that these three PPCPs are readily accumulated in lettuce leaves and may pose a potential risk to public health through consumption of this leafy vegetable. Therefore, the potential occurrence of these PPCPs in leafy vegetables including lettuces, cabbages, and spinaches irrigated with reclaimed water needs to be preferentially investigated.



Figure 12. Bioaccumulation factors for PPCPs and hormones into lettuce tissues after exposure to 0.5 μg L⁻¹ concentration in nutrient solutions. Top: GRB lettuce, Bottom: RL lettuce.



Figure 13. Bioaccumulation factors for PPCPs and hormones into lettuce tissues after exposure to 50 μg L⁻¹ concentration in nutrient solutions. Top: GRB lettuce, Bottom: RL lettuce.



Figure 14. Bioaccumulation factors for PPCPs and hormones into lettuce tissues after exposure to 500 μg L⁻¹ concentration in nutrient solutions. Top: GRB lettuce, Bottom: RL lettuce.

3.3.1.4. Translocation Factors

In order to uniformly evaluate translocation of PPCPs and hormones from roots to leaves in both lettuce cultivars, a translocation factor (TF) was calculated for each compound based on its amounts in leaves relative to those in roots.

$$TF = \frac{\text{Concentration of PPCP or hormone in leaf } (\mu g \text{ kg}^{-1}, \text{dw})}{\text{Concentration of PPCP or hormone in root } (\mu g \text{ kg}^{-1}, \text{dw})}$$
(2)

TF values for each compound in lettuce plants are shown in Figure 15. Except for CAF and CBZ, the calculated TF values of the other PPCPs and hormones were very small (<<1) in both lettuce cultivars, suggesting poor translocation of these chemicals from roots to leaves after uptake. Considering that these chemicals preferentially accumulate in plant roots as compared to above-ground parts, the potential risk for human consumption from those contaminants may be significantly greater for root vegetables such as radishes and carrots.

On the other hand, most TF values of CAF and CBZ for both lettuce cultivars were greater than 1 (Figure 15), suggesting that these two PPCPs can easily translocate from plant roots to leaves via water transpiration. A previous study illustrated that the translocation of non-ionized chemicals from plant roots into shoots is a passive process that occurs in proportion to

the amount of water transpired (Briggs et al., 1982). The TF values of CAF into lettuce increased by an order of magnitude with each increase in solution concentration, such as in GRB where TF values were 0.14, 1.67, and 22.94 at 0.5, 50, and 500 μ g L⁻¹, respectively. In contrast, the TF values of CBZ generally remained the same across solution concentrations (1.29 to 3.27 in both cultivars), which suggests that leaf and root concentrations would increase at the same rate with increasing exposure. This difference between TFs in CAF and CBZ may be due to lower hydrophobicity of CAF, which may lower its ability to transfer into phloem and leaf aerial tissue and redistribute to root tissue, whereas CBZ has moderate hydrophobicity that would facilitate its transfer across all plant tissues (Briggs et al., 1982; Trapp and Legind, 2011).

Other PPCP compounds, including NAP, IBU, GEM, and SMO were found at TF values < 1, indicating that their contamination was mainly relegated to the roots of the lettuce plants. This is likely due to the fact that these compounds are partly ionized at a neutral pH, which would limit their ability to transfer through cell walls in the plant (Dodgen et al., 2015; Trapp, 2000). This interpretation is consistent with previous research which indicated that molecular ionization of organic compounds may reduce their ability to permeate cell membranes and thereby result in a reduced internal transfer potential (Trapp, 2004). In addition, the results from this study also showed that, as solution concentration increased, TF values for all of these compounds decreased, suggesting that translocation is rate-limited inside the plant. For instance, SMO in RL had a TF value of 0.14 after exposure to 0.5 μ g L⁻¹ solutions but a TF value of only 0.04 after exposure to 500 μ g L⁻¹ solutions.

The behavior of TCS was unique among the targeted PPCPs and hormones in that no accumulation was detected in lettuce leaves at even the highest exposure rate, leading to TF values of 0 for all treatments. Considering the high hydrophobicity of TCS and its undetectable translocation, it is likely that TCS was only poorly taken up by plant roots and that the majority of the root concentration was caused by TCS adsorbed onto the root exterior. If other hydrophobic emerging contaminants act in this manner, it is possible that mechanical methods of cleaning root vegetables, such as peeling carrots, may be useful in minimizing human exposure to these particular compounds.



Figure 15. Translocation factors of PPCPs and hormones from roots to leaves of lettuce grown in solutions containing emerging contaminants at: Top: 0.5 µg L⁻¹; Middle: 50 µg L⁻¹; and Bottom: 500 µg L⁻¹.

3.3.2. Study 2: Effect of Exposure Duration

In this study, 20 GRB lettuce plants were grown for three weeks in nutrient solutions spiked with 50 μ g L⁻¹ of each targeted compound. After each week of growth in the spiked solutions, a third of the plants were harvested for analysis of the accumulation of PPCPs and hormones in their leaves and roots (Figure 16). Results showed that most compounds had similar concentrations in the leaves or roots, regardless of exposure length. For example, CAF was detected at 1,084, 1,148, and 1,152 μ g kg⁻¹ in lettuce roots after one, two, and three weeks, respectively. This result indicates that in less than one week, accumulation of PPCPs and hormones may reach a steady level in lettuce plants with exposure through contaminated water. The weight of leaf biomass was also measured for each treatment group, and total dry weight was 29.1, 70.8, and 237.0 g for plants harvested at one, two, and three weeks, respectively. By comparing the concentrations of PPCPs and hormones in leaf biomass for each treatment, it was observed that targeted compounds accumulated in leaf tissue at a similar rate as overall plant growth, effectively preserving overall contaminant concentration.

The stable compound concentrations during the growth period show that the plants were continually taking up contaminants for the duration of exposure. It is likely that ongoing accumulation in leaves occurred in proportion to the increased transpiration needs of a larger plant, and not to a coincidental similarity between contaminant uptake rate and plant growth rate. Indeed, it has been suggested previously that transpiration is the primary cause of contaminant translocation to aerial plant tissues (Dodgen et al., 2015; Trapp and Legind, 2011). As plant transpiration increases with growth, it is probable that contaminant accumulation could continue throughout the growth period for a variety of plants. Accordingly, this could potentially result in concentrations of biological relevance to human health. This relationship would simplify some aspects of modeling human exposure, as plant age could be omitted. However, it is unclear from this study what effect timing of exposure has and whether plants may depurate accumulated PPCPs and hormones if exposure ceased previous to harvest.

TFs in this study were calculated according to Equation (2) and were similar among treatment groups (Figure 17). However, NAP, IBU, and GEM exhibited decreasing TFs across exposure length, suggesting that they may be taken into roots faster than they translocate to leaves, in agreement with observations in Section 3.1.1.



Figure 16. Accumulation of PPCPs and hormones into GRB lettuce tissue after one, two, or three weeks of growth in nutrient solutions amended with 50 μg L⁻¹ of each compound. Top: roots. Bottom: leaves.



Figure 17. Translocation factors for PPCPs and hormones in GRB lettuce after exposure to 50 µg L⁻¹ of each compound for one, two, or three weeks.

3.3.3. Study 3: Effect of Exposure Timing and Depuration

This study investigated the impact of exposure timing on accumulation of PPCPs and hormones in lettuce. Two groups of 20 lettuce plants each were grown in nutrient solutions. One treatment group was grown in nutrient solutions spiked with each targeted compound at $50 \ \mu g \ L^{-1}$ for 1.5 weeks, and then grown in unspiked nutrient solutions for a further 1.5 week period (hereafter referred to as the "Beginning" treatment). The second treatment group was grown in unspiked nutrient solutions for 1.5 weeks ("End" treatment). In these experiments, exposure to PPCPs and hormones was divided into two separate hydroponic systems to determine which types of compounds were the cause of a hormetic increase in microbial growth in the nutrient solutions that had been observed.

Lettuce plants were harvested after a total of three weeks of treatment. The concentrations of PPCPs and hormones were measured in roots and leaves. Plants in the End treatment (i.e., exposed close to harvest) had substantially greater root concentrations of almost all PPCPs than plants in the Beginning treatment (Figure 18). For example, IBU was detected in RL roots at 55 μ g kg⁻¹ in the Beginning plants, but at 737 μ g kg⁻¹ in End plants. In contrast, hormones (E1, β E2, and EE2) and TCS were detected at similarly high root concentrations in both treatments.



Figure 18. Accumulation of PPCPs and hormones into lettuce roots following exposure to 50 µg L⁻¹ at the Beginning or End of the treatment period. Top: GRB lettuce. Bottom: RL lettuce.

PPCPs also accumulated in lettuce leaves in both treatments (Figure 19). A few compounds were generally not detectable in lettuce leaves, namely TCS, E1, β E2, and EE2. For the remaining compounds, leaf concentrations were greater in End plants than Beginning plants, although this difference was not as large as for roots. For example, IBU was detected in GRB at 11.3 µg kg⁻¹ in the Beginning plants and at 37.8 µg kg⁻¹ in End plants. An exception to this was SMO, which was detected at similar leaf concentrations in both treatments.

The generally higher concentrations of PPCPs and hormones in plants that were recently exposed (the End treatment) may be attributed to the depuration of early contaminant residues through plant metabolism for the Beginning treatment. Plants are able to metabolize xenobiotics through processes of conjugation, catabolism, and binding to tissues (Collins et al., 2011; McCutcheon and Schnoor, 2004), and some work has found evidence of these processes for chemical contaminants (Bokern and Harms, 1997; Macherius et al., 2012). Also, it must be noted that PPCPs and hormones that have been taken up by the Beginning plants may be secreted by the plants into the unspiked nutrient solutions and thereby decrease their accumulation in the plants. However, no PPCP and hormone residues were detected in the unspiked nutrient solutions for the Beginning treatment. Therefore, further work is needed to assess the capacity of plants to metabolize and bind PPCPs or hormones in order to evaluate food safety. This depuration observed may be an approach to reduce emerging contaminant load in food crops by irrigating with high-grade water for a brief period of time before harvest. But the metabolic products of these compounds should also be studied to assess their toxicity relative to their parent compounds.

TFs were calculated for each treatment according to Equation (2); some compounds were not detectable in leaves and had TF values of zero. In this study, TFs were almost entirely greater for Beginning plants than End plants (Figure 20). For example, CBZ had TF values of 36.1 for RL Beginning plants, but only 8.9 for RL End plants. The only exception was for CAF, where TFs were similar across treatments (TF = 8.7 to 16.1).

The higher TF values in the Beginning plants for most PPCPs suggests that translocation may be rate-limited compared to root uptake from nutrient solutions. This relationship would require more time for PPCPs to move up to leaf tissues, which is supported by higher TF values in plants exposed earlier. Section 3.3.1 discussed the likelihood that CAF experiences rapid translocation from roots to leaves after root uptake, as evidenced by increasing TF values with increasing solution concentrations. This rapid translocation would explain the similar TF values of CAF for plants in this study and support the hypothesis that other compounds may experience slower translocation. This area deserves further study due to its implications for managing irrigation with reuse water. Current information on PPCP and hormone accumulation by food crops is frequently based on laboratory-scale studies that grow plants for a limited time-frame, which may not encompass the behavior of field plants exposed to emerging contaminants for longer periods, such as slow translocation into leaf tissue.



Figure 19. Accumulation of PPCPs and hormones into lettuce leaves following exposure to 50 µg L⁻¹ at the Beginning or End of the treatment period. Top: GRB lettuce. Bottom: RL lettuce.



Figure 20. Translocation factors for PPCPs and hormones after exposure to 50 µg L⁻¹ of each compound at either the Beginning or End of a three-week period. Left: GRB; Right: RL.

3.4. PPCP and Hormone Accumulation in Tomato Plants

3.4.1. Concentrations of PPCPs and Hormones in Plant Tissues

Fruiting tomato plants of two cultivars, 'Cherry Cascade' (CC) and 'Tiny Tim' (TT), were grown for five weeks in nutrient solution amended with 0.5, 50, or 500 μ g L⁻¹ of each compound. Roots, leaves, stems, and fruits were then harvested (Figure 3) to analyze for accumulated PPCPs and steroid hormones.

3.4.1.1. PPCP Accumulation

All PPCPs were detected in tomato roots after exposure at 0.5 μ g L⁻¹ (Figure 21), which shows that these compounds are likely to accumulate in plant roots when present at levels in reuse water. Concentrations for most PPCPs were below 200 μ g kg⁻¹ (dw), with the exception of TCS, which had very high root concentrations of 800.0 μ g kg⁻¹ (dw) in CC and 1732.3 μ g kg⁻¹ (dw) in TT.



Figure 21. Accumulation of PPCPs into CC or TT tomato plants after exposure to 0.5 μg L⁻¹ in nutrient solution. Top-left: root. Top-right: stem. Bottom-left: leaf. Bottom-right: fruit.

Accumulation of PPCPs into stems, leaves, and fruits was more selective than into roots for all exposure levels. Only four PPCPs were found both in roots and stems (CAF, CBZ, IBU, and GEM). CAF, CBZ, and IBU were found at similar levels in the stems and roots (Figure 21). For example, CAF was measured at 5.2 and 8.2 μ g kg⁻¹ (dw) in TT stems and roots, respectively. In contrast, GEM levels were much lower in stems (8.9 μ g kg⁻¹ (dw) in CC) compared to roots (80.7 μ g kg⁻¹ (dw) in CC).

In leaves, only CAF, CBZ, and GEM were found (Figure 21). Concentrations of GEM continued to decrease with decreasing proximity to roots, while CBZ was found at much higher levels in leaves than in roots, similar to its behavior in lettuce plants. In CC leaves, CBZ was measured at 169.8 μ g kg⁻¹ (dw) while it only accumulated to 18.8 μ g kg⁻¹ (dw) in roots. In contrast to its behavior in lettuce plants, CAF was found at similar levels in roots, stems, and leaves.

In the fruit, only CBZ was detectable, with concentrations ranging from 2 to 5 μ g kg⁻¹ after exposure to only 0.5 μ g L⁻¹. Fruit accumulation is expected to be related to a compound's ability to partition into phloem (Trapp and Legind, 2011). As shown in Figure 21, CBZ seems to easily translocate in the tomato plants and has the greatest potential for fruit accumulation compared to other targeted PPCPs. Further research is warranted to determine if the accumulation of CBZ is principally caused by its ability to readily distribute and whether a recalcitrance to plant metabolism is also involved. Overall, at this environmentally-relevant exposure level, few PPCPs accumulated to high levels, with the exception of TCS in roots.

When exposed to nutrient solution with 50 μ g L⁻¹ of each targeted compound, concentrations of PPCPs in roots ranged from 10.8 μ g kg⁻¹ (dw) for CAF in TT to 20.9 mg kg⁻¹ (dw) for SMO in CC (Figure 22). Overall, a wider selection of PPCPs accumulated to high levels compared to solutions amended with 0.5 μ g L⁻¹, where only TCS exhibited high accumulation. In stems, leaves, and fruit, CBZ was the most accumulated PPCP (as it also was for the lower exposure level). For example, in stems CBZ was found at 1209.7 to 1504.5 μ g kg⁻¹ (dw), while concentrations of any other PPCPs were < 48 μ g kg⁻¹ (dw) (Figure 22).

After exposure to 500 μ g L⁻¹ of each compound, tomato plants accumulated very high levels of some compounds (Figure 23). All compounds were detected in roots, and GEM had the highest concentration at 105.1 to 156.3 mg kg⁻¹ (dw). This result contrasts with other exposure levels where SMO or TCS were the compounds that were accumulated the most for the 50 or 0.5 μ g L⁻¹ solutions, respectively. This variation shows that PPCP concentration may be an important factor in root uptake and accumulation behavior, and it should be considered when developing risk assessment methods for PPCP uptake by plants.

To summarize PPCP detection in fruits, after exposure to environmentally-relevant levels $(0.5 \ \mu g \ L^{-1})$ only CBZ was detected in tomato fruits. However, after exposure to 50 $\ \mu g \ L^{-1}$, NAP, IBU, GEM, and SMO were also detected in tomato fruit, and exposure to 500 $\ \mu g \ L^{-1}$ caused detectable accumulation of CAF as well, showing that sufficiently high exposure can cause accumulation of a variety of PPCPs into edible fruits.

Comparing various plant compartments, roots clearly accumulate greater levels of most PPCPs than stems, leaves, or fruits. The exception to this trend was the high accumulation of CAF and CBZ in leaves compared to their concentrations in tomato roots. In particular, CBZ was detected as the most highly accumulated compound in tomato stems, leaves, and fruits, suggesting that this contaminant has more potential for translocation in tomato plants compared to other targeted PPCPs.



Figure 22. Accumulation of PPCPs into CC or TT tomato plants after exposure to 50 μg L⁻¹ in nutrient solution. Top-left: root. Top-right: stem. Bottom-left: leaf. Bottom-right: fruit.



Figure 23. Accumulation of PPCPs into CC or TT tomato plants after exposure to 500 μg L⁻¹ in nutrient solution. Top-left: root. Top-right: stem. Bottom-left: leaf. Bottom-right: fruit.

3.4.1.2. Hormone Accumulation

Hormones, specifically E1, β E2, and EE2, were spiked with the PPCPs into nutrient solutions for tomato plant cultivation. But even after exposure to 500 µg L⁻¹ of hormones, tomato leaves and fruits had no detectable accumulation of the hormones. The concentrations of hormones in roots and stems are shown in Figure 24. Only one hormone, EE2, was detectable in tomatoes exposed at 0.5 µg L⁻¹ and was measured at 9 µg kg⁻¹ (dw) in roots. No compounds were detectable in stems at that exposure (Figure 24). In plants exposed to 50 µg L⁻¹, all three hormones were detected in roots at concentrations ranging from 51.5 µg kg⁻¹ (dw) for β E2 in CC to 589 µg kg⁻¹ (dw) for EE2 in CC, while these hormones were still undetectable in stems. After exposure to 500 µg L⁻¹, root concentrations had increased to 1.6 to 2.3 mg kg⁻¹ (dw). At this exposure, E1 and β E2 were detected in stems at 10.1 to 22.3 µg kg⁻¹ (dw) while EE2 was still not detectable.

Compared to the PPCPs tested, hormone accumulation was very limited. Levels of hormones in roots were similar to concentrations of CAF, the least accumulated PPCP. However, CAF generally had greater accumulation in leaves and stems, whereas hormones were typically undetectable in those plant parts. The highly limited accumulation of hormones in all plant parts may seem to suggest that these compounds are of limited concern for food safety. However, because hormones strongly interact with the human endocrine system and may elicit effects even at minute concentrations, this assumption needs to be verified in a systematic way through further research.



Figure 24. Accumulation of hormones into CC or TT tomato plants after exposure in nutrient solutions. Top: roots; Bottom: stems.

3.4.2. Bioaccumulation Factors

Bioaccumulation factors (BAFs) of PPCPs and hormones from solution into tomato plant parts were calculated using Equation (1), allowing comparisons among the exposure levels. TCS had the greatest total BAF among PPCPs for tomato plants exposed to solutions with 0.5 μ g L⁻¹, largely due to also having the greatest root BAF (Figure 25). The second greatest total BAF was for CBZ, which had the largest leaf BAF.

Compared to 0.5 μ g L⁻¹ exposure, BAFs for most PPCPs in each plant part remained similar when exposed to solutions at 50 μ g L⁻¹ (Figure 26) or 500 μ g L⁻¹ (Figure 27). The exceptions were CAF and NAP, which had gradually decreasing BAFs with increasing solution concentration, and TCS, which had drastically decreasing BAFs. As an example, in CC roots, NAP BAFs were 157, 116, and 87 after exposure to 0.5, 50, and 500 μ g L⁻¹, respectively, while TCS BAFs were 1600, 173, and 35 for the same exposures. The different accumulation of these compounds is likely related to their properties, such as hydrophobicity and ionization potential.



Figure 25. Bioaccumulation factors for PPCPs into tomato tissues after exposure to 0.5 μg L⁻¹ concentrations in nutrient solution. Left: CC tomato plants. Right: TT tomato plants.



Figure 26. Bioaccumulation factors for PPCPs into tomato tissues after exposure to 50 μg L⁻¹ concentrations in nutrient solutions. Left: CC tomato plants; Right: TT tomato plants.



Figure 27. Bioaccumulation factors for PPCPs into tomato tissues after exposure to 500 μg L⁻¹ concentrations in nutrient solutions. Left: CC tomato plants; Right: TT tomato plants.

As also noted above, the exposure concentration affected the accumulation of PPCPs into roots. For example, in CC, TCS was the most accumulated PPCP (BAF = 1,600) after exposure to 0.5 μ g L⁻¹ concentration solutions, SMO was the most accumulated (BAF = 418) after exposure to 50 μ g L⁻¹, and GEM was the most accumulated (BAF = 210) after exposure to 500 μ g L⁻¹. This complex interplay between exposure concentration and compound behavior deserves further investigation so that it can be successfully modeled for risk assessment.

In contrast to root accumulation, CBZ had the highest leaf BAF values for all tomato treatments. In TT, BAFs were 158, 457, and 136 after exposure to 0.5, 50, and 500 µg L⁻¹, respectively, suggesting that leaf accumulation is generally high and some exposure concentrations may experience enhanced accumulation. CBZ accumulation into fruit was found at all exposure levels as well, with BAFs of 5 to 9. Overall, CBZ had the largest leaf BAF values for both tomato and lettuce plants. Moreover, it was the only targeted contaminant to accumulate in tomato fruits, suggesting that CBZ has high potential for leaf and fruit accumulation and could be used as a marker when assessing human risk from consumption of leafy vegetables and fruits contaminated with PPCPs.

Hormones had minimal accumulation into tomato roots, little accumulation into stems, and no accumulation in leaves or fruits (Figure 28). Further study should investigate whether hormones in roots are simply adsorbed to the root surface, in which case directing the use of preparative measures (such as peeling carrots) can minimize human exposure, or whether accumulation is occurring in interior root tissues. Accumulation within roots has greater potential impact on human health, because even minute concentrations of hormones have great biological activity.



Figure 28. Bioaccumulation factors for hormones into tomato tissues after exposure in nutrient solutions. Top: CC tomato plants; Bottom: TT tomato plants.

3.4.3. Translocation Factors

To assess the translocation of PPCPs and hormones from root to aerial tomato tissues, the following equation was used.

$$TF = \frac{\text{Sum of PPCP or hormone in stem, leaf, and fruit (\mu g kg^{-1}, dw)}{\text{Concentration of PPCP or hormone in root (\mu g kg^{-1}, dw)}}$$
(3)

All PPCPs and hormones, besides CAF and CBZ, were found predominantly in roots, with minimal or no translocation to aerial tissue (Figure 29 and 30), producing TFs of 0 to 0.13. The only exception was IBU in TT, which had a TF of 1.13 (Figure 29). For these PPCPs and hormones, TF values mostly decreased with increasing exposure concentration. Comparing BAF values (Figure 25-28), it is clear that this effect was mostly due to the very low detection of any of these emerging contaminants in aerial tissues while root concentrations remained mostly stable. The low translocation of these PPCPs and hormones suggest they bear little risk to contaminate leafy vegetables, and attention should instead be paid to their root accumulation.



Figure 29. Translocation factors of PPCPs in tomatoes at three exposure concentrations. Left: CC tomato plants; Right: TT tomato plants.



Figure 30. Translocation factors of hormones in tomato tissues at three exposure concentrations.

In marked contrast, CAF and CBZ had high TFs ranging from 1.12 to 233.62. CAF exhibited a direct relationship between exposure and translocation, with TF values increasing about an order of magnitude with each increase in exposure concentration. CBZ did not exhibit this behavior but remained relatively stable across exposures. These behavior trends are very similar to those observed in lettuce (Figure 15). In lettuce, CAF and CBZ also had high TF values, which in the case of CAF were related to exposure, but in the case of CBZ were not related. This similarity across plant species and cultivar suggests that aerial accumulation of targeted contaminants was strongly connected to their chemical properties and that neutral, hydrophilic compounds such as CAF and CBZ have great potential to accumulate in leafy vegetables (Dodgen et al., 2015; Zhang et al., 2013).

3.5. Evaluating Human Exposure and Risk

The accumulation of PPCPs and hormones in lettuce leaves and tomato fruits indicates a potential risk to human health through dietary uptake. In this study, potential human exposure from consumption of food crops grown in nutrient solutions containing PPCPs and hormones at 500 μ g L⁻¹ were evaluated. Although this concentration level is much higher than the typical levels of emerging contaminants in the environment, sometimes this concentration could be detected in reclaimed water (Anderson et al., 2010; Choi et al., 2008; Heberer, 2002a; Karnjanapiboonwong et al., 2011*b*; Li et al., 2013; Zheng et al, 2008) that may be used for agricultural irrigation. Also, the use of the highest accumulation value for the evaluation may represent a "worst case" exposure. After exposure to 500 μ g L⁻¹ of each targeted compound, six of the seven PPCPs were detected in lettuce leaves and tomato fruits. Three targeted hormones were found in lettuce leaves, but not in tomato fruits.

To place the detected concentrations in some context, Table 4 shows values of acceptable daily intake (ADI) for all targeted compounds for a 65 kg human. ADIs are developed by regulatory agencies to estimate an exposure level that will have no observable effect, even for susceptible populations. To estimate human exposure, values from the United States Environmental Protection Agency (U.S. EPA) were used. It reports an average per capita consumption of 0.23 g (ww) lettuce leaves and 0.72 g (ww) tomato fruit per kg (body weight) per day (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2011). The highest detected concentrations of each contaminant in lettuce leaves and tomato fruits were used to calculate potential human exposure (Table 4). These calculations represent a "worst case" exposure estimation. Worst case estimations are useful because they err toward human safety and allow further scrutiny to be focused on compounds that exceed these protective limits.

Acceptable intake values range from 0.0065 to 37,050 μ g d⁻¹ for a 65 kg individual. The lowest ADIs belong to hormones, due to their potent biological activity, while the PPCPs have much higher values. Comparing ADIs with estimated intake (Table 4), it is evident that an average American may be exposed to far less than the ADI of any one contaminant through lettuce leaf and tomato fruit consumption. The only exceptions were CBZ and EE2, where a typical American might consume more than the ADIs from lettuce grown in high contaminated water (Table 4). These calculations are for average consumption, so an individual who consumed more than average amounts of the vegetables would have a greater exposure to these emerging compounds. Also, humans are likely exposed to PPCP and hormone contaminants from many sources, including food crops, drinking water, and home and work environments. When all inputs are summed, it is possible for humans to be exposed to greater amounts of emerging contaminants than those allowed by their ADIs.

Actual information for PPCPs and hormones in commercial food crops is largely unavailable. Only a few studies have suggested that emerging contaminants may be present in commercial crops if they were irrigated with reclaimed water (Calderón-Preciado et al., 2011; Wu et al., 2014). A concern is that ADIs are developed for a single compound in isolation, while humans are likely exposed to a simultaneous mixture of many emerging contaminants. Mixtures of PPCPs and/or hormones have been shown to have additive or synergistic toxic effects *in vivo* (Cleuvers, 2004), which has clear implications of enhanced potential human risk from exposure to hundreds of emerging contaminants in contaminated food, water, and other living environments.

Compound	ADI (µg)	Exposure in Lettuce (µg d ⁻¹)	Exposure in Tomato (µg d ⁻¹)
Caffeine	1248 ^a	23.13	0.063
Carbamazepine	22.1 ^b	58.26	9.05
Naproxen	37050 ^b	0.21	0.21
Ibuprofen	1625 ^c	0.023	0.044
Gemfibrozil	26.65 ^b	0.18	0.18
Triclosan	4875 ^b	0	0
Sulfamethoxazole	33150 ^b	3.72	0.20
Estrone	0.845 ^b	0.027	0
Estradiol	3.25 ^b	0.11	0
Ethinylestradiol	0.0065^{b}	0.082	0

 Table 4. Acceptable Daily Intake (ADI) for a 65 kg human and estimated daily exposure by ingestion of lettuce leaves and tomato fruits for targeted PPCPs and hormones.

a – no ADI available; based on Fisher Scientific MSDS oral-rat LD50 of 192 mg kg⁻¹ using an Uncertainty Factor of 10 000, b - Snyder et al., 2008, c - Ricardo-AEA, 2014.

Currently, hydroponics is a growing area of commercial food production. Compared to soil cultivation systems irrigated with reclaimed water, the use of hydroponics utilizing reclaimed water may result in greater accumulations of PPCPs and hormones in vegetables, because contaminant sorption on soils can reduce their availability for plant uptake (Shenker et al., 2011). However, the concentrations of emerging contaminants in bio-solids such as manure and STP sludge are usually much higher than those in reclaimed water. Land application of these bio-solids on food crops may result in an enhanced uptake and accumulation of PPCP and hormone contaminants in vegetables compared to irrigation with reclaimed water. The effects of different cultivation systems and management practices on the accumulation of emerging contaminants in food crops need to be further evaluated.

4. Conclusions

Lettuce plants were used to address several knowledge gaps, including (1) effect of initial PPCP and hormone concentrations on their accumulation, (2) effect of exposure duration, (3) effect of depuration period, and (4) effect of lettuce cultivars. In addition, two cultivars of tomato plants were also grown to assess the accumulation of PPCPs and hormones into edible fruits at various exposure concentrations.

4.1. Study 1: Evaluating Effects of PPCP and Hormone Concentrations

When lettuce cultivars were exposed to nutrient solutions with varying concentrations of PPCPs and hormones, all of the contaminant compounds were detected in roots even at a very low exposure concentration that was representative of recycled water. Greater exposure concentration generally led to greater PPCP and hormone accumulation. Among the test compounds, SMO accumulated the most in lettuce roots. Leaf tissue had detectable levels for most compounds except TCS. Levels of CAF and CBZ were higher in leaves than in roots, while other targeted emerging contaminants predominantly accumulated in roots. CBZ, CAF, and SMO showed very high BAF values in lettuce leaves, suggesting that these three compounds can easily translocate from lettuce roots to leaves and thereby accumulate in plant leaves.

4.2. Study 2: Evaluating Effects of Exposure Duration

When lettuce plants were grown for one, two, or three weeks in nutrient solutions spiked with PPCPs and hormones, very little difference in accumulated concentrations of most targeted compounds was observed among plants with different exposure duration. However, NAP, SMO, and β E2 showed some increase in their concentrations in roots after three weeks of exposure. Also, increased exposure duration showed a tendency for NAP, IBU, and GEM to gradually distribute to greater extents in roots, perhaps due to an "ion trap" of these anionic organic compounds (Trapp, 2009). The similar concentration in root tissues and leaf tissues across exposure times suggests that the plants took up greater amounts of PPCPs and hormones as their biomass increased, likely due to increased transpiration needs in larger plants (Dodgen et al., 2015). It also suggests that accumulation of PPCPs and hormones in plant tissues may rapidly reach a steady level (< 1 week), meaning field crops may quickly reflect changes in irrigation water quality.

4.3. Study 3: Evaluating Effects of Depuration

When plants were exposed to PPCPs and hormones and then grown for 1.5 weeks without exposure, the concentrations of chemicals in the leaves and roots were lower than in plants of similar age which were harvested immediately after exposure. Comparison between the results of this study and Study 2 (described in Section 4.2) suggests that the different accumulation levels of targeted PPCPs and hormones are not attributed to their difference in total uptake or plant biomass, but are likely due to metabolism of the accumulated compounds by the

plant (Bokern and Harms, 1997; Macherius et al., 2012). The only exceptions were for SMO which had similar levels in leaves and TCS and the hormones which had similar levels in roots after the 1.5 weeks. The persistence of these compounds, even after 1.5 weeks without new exposure, suggests that lettuce plants have limited ability to metabolize them and their residues may remain in lettuce plants.

4.4. Study 4: Accumulation of PPCPs and Hormones into Fruiting Plants

When fruiting tomato plants were exposed to various concentrations of PPCPs and hormones for five weeks, plants accumulated detectable levels of every PPCP in their root tissues, even at low exposure concentrations ($0.5 \ \mu g \ L^{-1}$). TCS was most highly accumulated in tomato roots after exposure to environmentally-relevant levels. In contrast, hormones were scarcely detectable, even after high exposure concentrations. This result implies that the accumulation of steroid hormones in tomato plants irrigated with hormone-containing water is unlikely. PPCPs, except for CAF and CBZ, showed little ability to translocate from tomato root tissues to other plant parts. Their accumulation in tomato plants generally decreased with decreasing proximity to roots, i.e., roots had greater levels of PPCPs than stems, which had greater levels than leaves or fruit. CBZ was the most accumulated PPCP in tomato fruits among all the targeted compounds.

4.5. Estimation of Human Risk from Consuming Contaminated Plants

An estimate of human exposure was calculated using the highest contaminant concentrations in lettuce leaves and tomato fruits and average per capita consumption of those foods. Values for acceptable daily intake (ADIs) of these PPCPs and hormones were developed from literature for comparisons. Overall, daily exposure through lettuce and tomato is much be less than the ADI values for most targeted compounds, even under the "worst case" scenario with highest concentrations of targeted compounds. However, estimated exposures for CBZ and EE2 in lettuce leaves were greater than their ADIs, suggesting that these two compounds require further study to determine the potential human risk from consumption of these contaminated food plants. In addition, this estimation method needs further expansion because it does not encompass individuals with higher than average consumption, does not include total exposure from the various food and environmental sources, and does not consider synergistic effects of simultaneous exposure to mixtures of PPCPs and hormones.

5. Recommendations

Some targeted PPCPs and hormones, namely CAF, CBZ, TCS, and SMO, were found to consistently accumulate in lettuce and tomato plants after exposure to levels that are relevant to reclaimed water. SMO was frequently detected in aerial and root tissues, while TCS predominantly partitioned to roots, and CAF and CBZ typically translocated to aerial tissues. CBZ was the only PPCP that accumulated in tomato fruits after exposure to environmentally-relevant water concentrations ($0.5 \ \mu g \ L^{-1}$). The wide variety of physico-chemical properties of these four compounds and their extensive uptake into plant tissues suggest that they may be useful as markers for plant uptake and for modeling human exposures from food crops.

Simple estimates of human exposure suggest that plant accumulation of most PPCPs and hormones from contaminated water will not be a significant source of risk, as dietary intake would be far below ADI values. However, CBZ and EE2 could accumulate in lettuce leaves to very high levels that surpass their ADI values when the vegetable is irrigated with highly contaminated water. This result suggests that total exposure to these compounds from all dietary and environmental sources may have a potential risk on human health, and thus should be further investigated.

Currently, approximately 8% of water used in agriculture and other applications in the U.S. is treated wastewater. Moreover, water reuse is growing by 15% each year (Miller, 2006). Current practices of irrigating with reuse water are not expected to cause human health risks due to the low PPCP and hormone levels in reuse water approved for food crops (Anderson et al., 2010). However, the emerging contaminants mentioned above should be given priority for future work. Root vegetables, such as sweet potatoes and carrots, should also be evaluated for uptake of these compounds, because most PPCPs and hormones have a high potential for root accumulation. A soil system should also be used to assess accumulation of a suite of PPCPs and hormones. Soil is a complex matrix that acts to sorb and degrade chemicals and may have a profound impact on their plant accumulation. Amendment of soil with biosolids or manures should be investigated because concentrations of some PPCPs and hormones may be substantially higher in these materials and their addition can change soil properties and affect the transport and persistence of these chemicals. Also, because the use of pharmaceuticals and other chemicals is increasing worldwide and water reuse is likewise increasing, the accumulation of PPCPs and hormones in food plants requires extensive evaluation to assure food safety.

6. References

- Alcaine, S.D., Sukhnanand, S.S., Warnick, L.D., Su, W.-L., McGann, P., McDonough, P., Wiedmann, M., 2005. Ceftiofur-resistant salmonella strains isolated from dairy farms represent multiple widely distributed subtypes that evolved by independent horizontal gene transfer. antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 49, 4061–4067. doi:10.1128/AAC.49.10.4061-4067.2005
- Anderson, P., Denslow, N., Drewes, J.E., Olivieri, A., Schlenk, D., Snyder, S., 2010. Monitoring strategies for chemicals of emerging concern (CECs) in recycled water. Calif. State Water Resour. Control Board.
- Baronti, C., Curini, R., D'Ascenzo, G., Di Corcia, A., Gentili, A., Samperi, R., 2000. Monitoring natural and synthetic estrogens at activated sludge sewage treatment plants and in a receiving river water. Environ. Sci. Technol. 34, 5059–5066. doi:10.1021/es001359q
- Bokern, M., Harms, H.H., 1997. Toxicity and metabolism of 4-n-nonylphenol in cell suspension cultures of different plant species. Environ. Sci. Technol. 31, 1849–1854. doi:10.1021/es960353r
- Boxall, A.B.A., Johnson, P., Smith, E.J., Sinclair, C.J., Stutt, E., Levy, L.S., 2006. Uptake of veterinary medicines from soils into plants. J Agric Food Chem 54, 2288–2297. doi:10.1021/jf053041t
- Boxall, A.B.A., Rudd, M.A., Brooks, B.W., Caldwell, D.J., Choi, K., 2012. Pharmaceuticals and Personal Care Products in the Environment: What are the Big Questions? Environ. Health Perspect. 120.
- Bradford, S.A., Segal, E., Zheng, W., Wang, Q., Hutchins, S.R., 2008. Reuse of concentrated animal feeding operation wastewater on agricultural lands. J. Environ. Qual. 37, S–97. doi:10.2134/jeq2007.0393
- Briggs, G.G., Bromilow, R.H., Evans, A.A., 1982. Relationships between lipophilicity and root uptake and translocation of non-ionised chemicals by barley. Pestic. Sci. 13, 495–504. doi:10.1002/ps.2780130506
- Burkholder, J., Libra, B., Weyer, P., Heathcote, S., Kolpin, D., Thorne, P.S., Wichman, M., 2007. Impacts of waste from concentrated animal feeding operations on water quality. Environ. Health Perspect. 115, 308–312. doi:10.1289/ehp.8839
- Calderón-Preciado, D., Jiménez-Cartagena, C., Matamoros, V., Bayona, J.M., 2011a. Screening of 47 organic microcontaminants in agricultural irrigation waters and their soil loading.
 Water Res. 45, 221–231. doi:10.1016/j.watres.2010.07.050
- Calderón-Preciado, D., Matamoros, V., Bayona, J.M., 2011b. Occurrence and potential crop uptake of emerging contaminants and related compounds in an agricultural irrigation network. Sci. Total Environ. 412–413, 14–19. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2011.09.057
- Chee-Sanford, J.C., Aminov, R.I., Krapac, I.J., Garrigues-Jeanjean, N., Mackie, R.I., 2001. Occurrence and diversity of tetracycline resistance genes in lagoons and groundwater underlying two swine production facilities. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 67, 1494–1502. doi:10.1128/AEM.67.4.1494-1502.2001
- Choi, K., Kim, Y., Park, J., Park, C.K., Kim, M., Kim, H.S., Kim, P., 2008. Seasonal variations of several pharmaceutical residues in surface water and sewage treatment plants of Han River, Korea. Sci. Total Environ. 405, 120–128. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2008.06.038

- Cleuvers, M., 2004. Mixture toxicity of the anti-inflammatory drugs diclofenac, ibuprofen, naproxen, and acetylsalicylic acid. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 59, 309–315. doi:10.1016/S0147-6513(03)00141-6
- Collins, C.D., Martin, I., Doucette, W., 2011. Plant uptake of xenobiotics, in: Schröder, P., Collins, C.D. (Eds.), Organic xenobiotics and plants, Plant Ecophysiology. Springer Netherlands, Dordrecht, pp. 3–16.
- Daughton, C.G., Ternes, T.A., 1999. Pharmaceuticals and personal care products in the environment: agents of subtle change? Environ. Health Perspect. 107, 907–938.
- Diamanti-Kandarakis, E., Bourguignon, J.-P., Giudice, L.C., Hauser, R., Prins, G.S., Soto, A.M., Zoeller, R.T., Gore, A.C., 2009. Endocrine-disrupting chemicals: an endocrine society scientific statement. Endocr. Rev. 30, 293–342.
- Dodgen, L.K., Li, J., Parker, D., Gan, J.J., 2013. Uptake and accumulation of four PPCP/EDCs in two leafy vegetables. Environ. Pollut. 182, 150–156. doi:10.1016/j.envpol.2013.06.038
- Dodgen, L.K., Ueda, A., Wu, X., Parker, D.R., Gan, J., 2015. Effect of transpiration on plant accumulation and translocation of PPCP/EDCs. Environ. Pollut. 198, 144–153. doi:10.1016/j.envpol.2015.01.002
- Dolliver, H., Kumar, K., Gupta, S., 2006. Sulfamethazine uptake by plants from manureamended soil. J. Environ. Qual. 36, 1224–1230.
- Filby, A.L., Thorpe, K.L., Maack, G., Tyler, C.R., 2007. Gene expression profiles revealing the mechanisms of anti-androgen- and estrogen-induced feminization in fish. Aquat. Toxicol. 81, 219–231. doi:10.1016/j.aquatox.2006.12.003
- Heberer, T., 2002a. Tracking persistent pharmaceutical residues from municipal sewage to drinking water. J. Hydrol. 266, 175–189. doi:10.1016/S0022-1694(02)00165-8
- Heberer, T., 2002b. Occurrence, fate, and removal of pharmaceutical residues in the aquatic environment: a review of recent research data. Toxicol. Lett. 131, 5–17. doi:10.1016/S0378-4274(02)00041-3
- Herklotz, P.A., Gurung, P., Vanden Heuvel, B., Kinney, C.A., 2010. Uptake of human pharmaceuticals by plants grown under hydroponic conditions. Chemosphere 78, 1416–1421. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2009.12.048
- Hutchins, S.R., White, M.V., Hudson, F.M., Fine, D.D., 2007. Analysis of lagoon samples from different concentrated animal feeding operations for estrogens and estrogen conjugates. Environ. Sci. Technol. 41, 738–744. doi:10.1021/es062234+
- Ingelfinger, J.R., 2008. Melamine and the global implications of food contamination. N. Engl. J. Med. 359, 2745–2748. doi:10.1056/NEJMp0808410
- Jobling, S., Nolan, M., Tyler, C.R., Brighty, G., Sumpter, J.P., 1998. Widespread sexual disruption in wild fish. Environ. Sci. Technol. 32, 2498–2506. doi:10.1021/es9710870
- Käferstein, F.K., Motarjemi, Y., Moy, G., 2000. Food safety, in: Food Quality and Standards. Encyclopedia of Life Support Systems.
- Karnjanapiboonwong, A., Chase, D.A., Cañas, J.E., Jackson, W.A., Maul, J.D., Morse, A.N., Anderson, T.A., 2011a. Uptake of 17α-ethynylestradiol and triclosan in pinto bean, *Phaseolus vulgaris*. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 74, 1336–1342. doi:10.1016/j.ecoenv.2011.03.013
- Karnjanapiboonwong, A., Suski, J.G., Shah, A.A., Cai, Q., Morse, A.N., Anderson, T.A., 2011b. Occurrence of PPCPs at a wastewater treatment plant and in soil and groundwater at a land application site. Water. Air. Soil Pollut. 216, 257–273.

- Kim, S.D., Cho, J., Kim, I.S., Vanderford, B.J., Snyder, S.A., 2007. Occurrence and removal of pharmaceuticals and endocrine disruptors in South Korean surface, drinking, and waste waters. Water Res. 41, 1013–1021. doi:10.1016/j.watres.2006.06.034
- Kinney, C.A., Furlong, E.T., Werner, S.L., Cahill, J.D., 2006. Presence and distribution of wastewater-derived pharmaceuticals in soil irrigated with reclaimed water. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 25, 317–326. doi:10.1897/05-187R.1
- Koike, S., Krapac, I.G., Oliver, H.D., Yannarell, A.C., Chee-Sanford, J.C., Aminov, R.I., Mackie, R.I., 2007. Monitoring and source tracking of tetracycline resistance genes in lagoons and groundwater adjacent to swine production facilities over a 3-year period. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 73, 4813–4823. doi:10.1128/AEM.00665-07
- Kolodziej, E.P., Harter, T., Sedlak, D.L., 2004. Dairy wastewater, aquaculture, and spawning fish as sources of steroid hormones in the aquatic environment. Environ. Sci. Technol. 38, 6377–6384. doi:10.1021/es049585d
- Kolpin, D.W., Furlong, E.T., Meyer, M.T., Thurman, E.M., Zaugg, S.D., Barber, L.B., Buxton, H.T., 2002. Pharmaceuticals, hormones, and other organic wastewater contaminants in U.S. streams, 1999–2000: a national reconnaissance. Env. Sci Technol 36, 1202–1211. doi:10.1021/es011055j
- Kumar, K., Gupta, S.C., Baidoo, S.K., Chander, Y., Rosen, C.J., 2005. Antibiotic uptake by plants from soil fertilized with animal manure. J. Environ. Qual. 34, 2082. doi:10.2134/jeq2005.0026
- Li, X., Zheng, W., Kelly, W.R., 2013. Occurrence and removal of pharmaceutical and hormone contaminants in rural wastewater treatment lagoons. Sci. Total Environ. 445–446, 22–28. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2012.12.035
- Luckenbach, T., Epel, D., 2005. Nitromusk and polycyclic musk compounds as long-term inhibitors of cellular xenobiotic defense systems mediated by multidrug transporters. Environ. Health Perspect. 113, 17–24.
- Macherius, A., Eggen, T., Lorenz, W., Moeder, M., Ondruschka, J., Reemtsma, T., 2012. Metabolization of the bacteriostatic agent triclosan in edible plants and its consequences for plant uptake assessment. Environ. Sci. Technol. 46, 10797–10804. doi:10.1021/es3028378
- Madsen, S.S., Skovbølling, S., Nielsen, C., Korsgaard, B., 2004. 17-β Estradiol and 4nonylphenol delay smolt development and downstream migration in Atlantic salmon, Salmo salar. Aquat. Toxicol. 68, 109–120. doi:10.1016/j.aquatox.2004.03.008
- Matamoros, V., Nguyen, L.X., Arias, C.A., Salvadó, V., Brix, H., 2012. Evaluation of aquatic plants for removing polar microcontaminants: A microcosm experiment. Chemosphere 88, 1257–1264. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2012.04.004
- McCutcheon, S.C., Schnoor, J.L., 2004. Phytoremediation: transformation and control of contaminants. John Wiley & Sons.
- Miller, G.W., 2006. Integrated concepts in water reuse: managing global water needs. Desalination 187, 65–75. doi:10.1016/j.desal.2005.04.068
- Motarjemi, Y., Käferstein, F., Moy, G., Miyagishima, K., Miyagawa, S., Reilly, A., 1995. Food safety issues: food technologies and public health.
- Pomati, F., Castiglioni, S., Zuccato, E., Fanelli, R., Vigetti, D., Rossetti, C., Calamari, D., 2006. Effects of a complex mixture of therapeutic drugs at environmental levels on human embryonic cells. Environ. Sci. Technol. 40, 2442–2447. doi:10.1021/es051715a

Ricardo-AEA, 2014. Toxicological evaluation for pharmaceuticals in drinking water.

Rochester, J.R., 2013. Bisphenol A and human health: A review of the literature. Reprod. Toxicol. 42, 132–155. doi:10.1016/j.reprotox.2013.08.008

- Sanchez, W., Sremski, W., Piccini, B., Palluel, O., Maillot-Maréchal, E., Betoulle, S., Jaffal, A., Aït-Aïssa, S., Brion, F., Thybaud, E., Hinfray, N., Porcher, J.-M., 2011. Adverse effects in wild fish living downstream from pharmaceutical manufacture discharges. Environ. Int. 37, 1342–1348. doi:10.1016/j.envint.2011.06.002
- Scallan, E., Hoekstra, R.M., Angulo, F.J., Tauxe, R.V., Widdowson, M.-A., Roy, S.L., Jones, J.L., Griffin, P.M., 2011. Foodborne illness acquired in the United States--major pathogens. Emerg. Infect. Dis. 17, 7–15. doi:10.3201/eid1701.P11101
- Shenker, M., Harush, D., Ben-Ari, J., Chefetz, B., 2011. Uptake of carbamazepine by cucumber plants – a case study related to irrigation with reclaimed wastewater. Chemosphere 82, 905– 910. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2010.10.052
- Snyder, S.A., Rebecca A. Trenholm, Erin M. Snyder, Gretchen M. Bruce, Richard C. Pleus, Jocelyn D.C. Hemming, 2008. Toxicological relevance of EDCs and pharmaceuticals in drinking water.
- Ternes, T.A., 1998. Occurrence of drugs in German sewage treatment plants and rivers. Water Res. 32, 3245–3260. doi:10.1016/S0043-1354(98)00099-2
- Ternes, T.A., Joss, A., Siegrist, H., 2004. Scrutinizing pharmaceuticals and personal care products in wastewater treatment. Environ. Sci. Technol. 38, 392A–399A.
- Ternes, T., Stumpf, M., Mueller, J., Haberer, K., Wilken, R.-D., Servos, M., 1999. Behavior and occurrence of estrogens in municipal sewage treatment plants — I. Investigations in Germany, Canada and Brazil. Sci. Total Environ. 225, 81–90. doi:10.1016/S0048-9697(98)00334-9
- Trapp, S., 2009. Bioaccumulation of polar and ionizable compounds in plants, in: Devillers, J. (Ed.), Ecotoxicology Modeling, Emerging Topics in Ecotoxicology. Springer US, pp. 299– 353.
- Trapp, S., 2004. Plant uptake and transport models for neutral and ionic chemicals. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 11, 33–39. doi:10.1065/espr2003.08.169
- Trapp, S., 2000. Modelling uptake into roots and subsequent translocation of neutral and ionisable organic compounds. Pest Manag. Sci. 56, 767–778. doi:10.1002/1526-4998(200009)56:9<767::AID-PS198>3.0.CO;2-Q
- Trapp, S., Legind, C.N., 2011. Uptake of organic contaminants from soil into vegetables and fruits, in: Swartjes, F.A. (Ed.), Dealing with Contaminated Sites. Springer Netherlands, Dordrecht, pp. 369–408.
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2011. Exposure factors handbook, 2011th ed. National Center for Environmental Assessment, Washington, D.C.
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2007. Method 1694: Pharmaceuticals and personal care products in water, soil, sediment, and biosolids by HPLC/MS/MS.
- Vanderford, B.J., Snyder, S.A., 2006. Analysis of pharmaceuticals in water by isotope dilution liquid chromatography/tandem mass spectrometry. Env. Sci Technol 40, 7312–7320. doi:10.1021/es0613198
- van der Linden, S.C., Heringa, M.B., Man, H.-Y., Sonneveld, E., Puijker, L.M., Brouwer, A., van der Burg, B., 2008. Detection of multiple hormonal activities in wastewater effluents and surface water, using a panel of steroid receptor CALUX bioassays. Environ. Sci. Technol. 42, 5814–5820. doi:10.1021/es702897y
- Wu, C., Spongberg, A.L., Witter, J.D., Fang, M., Czajkowski, K.P., 2010. Uptake of pharmaceutical and personal care products by soybean plants from soils applied with biosolids and irrigated with contaminated water. Env. Sci Technol 44, 6157–6161. doi:10.1021/es1011115

- Wu, X., Conkle, J.L., Ernst, F., Gan, J., 2014. Treated Wastewater Irrigation: Uptake of pharmaceutical and personal care products by common vegetables under field conditions. Environ. Sci. Technol. 48, 11286–11293. doi:10.1021/es502868k
- Wu, X., Conkle, J.L., Gan, J., 2012. Multi-residue determination of pharmaceutical and personal care products in vegetables. J. Chromatogr. A 1254, 78–86. doi:10.1016/j.chroma.2012.07.041
- Xia, K., Bhandari, A., Das, K., Pillar, G., 2005. Occurrence and fate of pharmaceuticals and personal care products (PPCPs) in biosolids. J. Environ. Qual. 34, 91. doi:10.2134/jeq2005.0091
- Zhang, D.Q., Gersberg, R.M., Hua, T., Zhu, J., Goyal, M.K., Ng, W.J., Tan, S.K., 2013. Fate of pharmaceutical compounds in hydroponic mesocosms planted with Scirpus validus. Environ. Pollut. 181, 98–106. doi:10.1016/j.envpol.2013.06.016
- Zheng, W., Yates, S.R., Bradford, S.A., 2008. Analysis of steroid hormones in a typical dairy waste disposal system. Environ. Sci. Technol. 42, 530–535. doi:10.1021/es071896b